



University of Dundee

Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment

Worthington, Helen V.; Clarkson, Jan E.; Bryan, Gemma; Furness, Susan; Glenny, Anne-Marie; Littlewood, Anne

Published in: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000978

Publication date: 2006

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication in Discovery Research Portal

Citation for published version (APA):

Worthington, H. V., Clarkson, J. E., Bryan, G., Furness, S., Glenny, A-M., Littlewood, A., McCabe, M. G., Meyer, S., & Khalid, T. (2006). Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD000978

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in Discovery Research Portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from Discovery Research Portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain.
- You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment (Review)

Clarkson JE, Worthington HV, Eden OB



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2006, Issue 1

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW	3
SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES	3
METHODS OF THE REVIEW	4
DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES	5
METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY	6
RESULTS	7
DISCUSSION	10
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	11
NOTES	12
POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST	12
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	12
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	12
REFERENCES	12
TABLES	19
Characteristics of included studies	19
Characteristics of excluded studies	33
ADDITIONAL TABLES	35
Table 01. Quality assessment of trials	35
Table 02. Data from parallel group studies for comparisons involving cross-over studies	37
Table 03. Data from cross-over studies	38
Table 04. Results from parallel group and cross-over studies	39
ANALYSES	41
Comparison 01. Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment	41
Comparison 02. Side effects	41
INDEX TERMS	41
COVER SHEET	41
GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES	42
Analysis 01.01. Comparison 01 Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment, Outcome 01 mucositis (absent versus	43
present)	
Analysis 01.02. Comparison 01 Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment, Outcome 02 mucositis (0-1 versus 2+)	46
Analysis 01.03. Comparison 01 Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment, Outcome 03 mucositis (0-2 versus 3+)	48
Analysis 02.01. Comparison 02 Side effects, Outcome 01 amifostine	51
Analysis 02.02. Comparison 02 Side effects, Outcome 02 GM-CSF	53

Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment (Review)

Clarkson JE, Worthington HV, Eden OB

This record should be cited as:

Clarkson JE, Worthington HV, Eden OB. Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2003, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD000978. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000978.

This version first published online: 21 July 2003 in Issue 3, 2003. Date of most recent substantive amendment: 23 May 2003

ABSTRACT

Background

Treatment of cancer is increasingly more effective but is associated with short and long term side effects. Oral side effects remain a major source of illness despite the use of a variety of agents to prevent them. One of these side effects is oral mucositis (mouth ulcers).

Objectives

To evaluate the effectiveness of prophylactic agents for oral mucositis in patients with cancer receiving treatment, compared with other potentially active interventions, placebo or no treatment.

Search strategy

The Cochrane Oral Health Group's Trials Register, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), MEDLINE and EMBASE were searched. Reference lists from relevant articles were scanned and the authors of eligible studies were contacted to identify trials and obtain additional information.

Date of most recent searches June 2002.

Selection criteria

Trials were selected if they met the following criteria: design - random allocation of participants; participants - anyone with cancer receiving chemotherapy or radiotherapy treatment for cancer; interventions - agents prescribed to prevent oral mucositis; outcomes - prevention of mucositis, pain, amount of analgesia, dysphagia, systemic infection, length of hospitalisation, cost and patient quality of life.

Data collection and analysis

Information regarding methods, participants, interventions and outcome measures and results were independently extracted, in duplicate, by two reviewers. Authors were contacted for details of randomisation and withdrawals and a quality assessment was carried out. The Cochrane Oral Health Group statistical guidelines were followed and relative risk values calculated using random effects models.

Main results

One hundred and nine studies were eligible. Fifty-seven were excluded for various reasons, usually as there was no useable information on mucositis. Of the 52 useable studies all had data for mucositis comprising 3594 randomised patients. Interventions evaluated were: acyclovir, allopurinol mouthrinse, amifostine, antibiotic pastille or paste, benzydamine, camomile, chlorhexidine, clarithromycin, folinic acid, glutamine, GM-CSF, hydrolytic enzymes, ice chips, oral care, pentoxifyline, povidone, prednisone, propantheline, prostaglandin, sucralfate and traumeel. Of the 21 interventions included in trials, nine showed some evidence of a benefit (albeit sometimes weak) for either preventing or reducing the severity of mucositis. Interventions where there was more than one trial and a significant difference compared with a placebo or no treatment were allopurinal with unreliable evidence for a reduction in the severity of mucositis OR = 0.01 (95% CI: 0 to 0.03), amifostine provided minimal benefit in preventing mucositis RR = 0.95 (95% CI: 0.91 to 0.99), antibiotic paste or pastille demonstrated a moderate benefit in preventing mucositis RR = 0.87 (95% CI: 0.79 to 0.97), GM-CSF prevented mucositis RR = 0.51 (95% CI: 0.29 to 0.91), hydrolytic enzymes reduced the severity of mucositis RR = 0.49 (95% CI: 0.30 to 0.81), and ice chips prevented mucositis OR = 0.42 (95% CI: 0.19 to 0.93). Other interventions showing some benefit with only one study were: benzydamine, oral care protocols and povidone.

The NNT to prevent one patient experiencing mucositis over a baseline incidence of 60% for amifostine is 33 (95% CI: 20 to 100), antibiotic paste or pastille 13 (95% CI: 8 to 50), GM-CSF 3 (95% CI: 2 to 20) and ice chips 5 (95% CI: 2 to 31). When the baseline incidence is 40%/90% the NNTs for amifostine are 50/20, for antibiotic paste or pastille 20/8, for GM-CSF 5/2 and for ice chips 6/10.

The general reporting of RCTs was poor. However, the quality of the randomisation improved when the authors provided additional information.

Authors' conclusions

Several of the interventions were found to have some benefit at preventing or reducing the severity of mucositis associated with cancer treatment. The strength of the evidence was variable and implications for practice include consideration that benefits may be specific for certain cancer types and treatment. There is a need for well designed and conducted trials with sufficient numbers of participants to perform subgroup analyses by type of disease and chemotherapeutic agent.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Several therapies appear to either prevent or reduce the severity of mouth ulcers caused by chemotherapy or radiotherapy for cancer

Treatment for cancer (including bone marrow transplant) can cause oral mucositis (severe ulcers in the mouth). This can cause discomfort, pain, difficulties in eating, and a longer stay in hospital. Different strategies are used to try and prevent this condition, and the review of trials found that some of these are effective. Effective treatments include several drugs which can be taken as tablets and others which can be added to the cancer treatment regimen. Other interventions that were effective were a mouthwash medicated with allopurinol and sucking ice chips before and during the cancer treatment.

BACKGROUND

Treatment of solid malignant tumours and the leukaemias with cytotoxic chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy is becoming increasingly more effective but it is associated with short and long term side effects. Among the clinically important acute side effects is the disruption in the function and integrity of the mouth. The consequences of this include severe ulceration (mucositis) and fungal infection of the mouth (oral candidiasis, thrush). These disease and treatment induced complications may also produce oral discomfort and pain, poor nutrition, delays in drug administration, increased hospital stays and costs and in some patients life threatening infection (septicaemia).

Oral complications remain a major source of illness despite the use of a variety of agents to prevent them. There are variations in usage between cancer centres in terms of the mouthcare regimen used. Compliance with recommended use of product is variable and there are conflicting reports of the effectiveness of prophylactic agents. The qualitative and quantitative benefits, side effects and costs of oral therapies are of importance to the cancer teams responsible for the treatment of patients.

There have been several traditional reviews published and most of these present a general discussion for both chemotherapy and radiotherapy induced oral side effects (De Pauw 1997; Denning 1992; Lortholary 1997; Stevens 1995; Symonds 1998; Verdi 1993; White 1993). The conclusions drawn and recommendations made vary from advocating a particular therapy to recommending oral care procedures that have not been systematically investigated. Two systematic reviews have focused on the prevention of oral mucositis in patients with cancer. One older review published in 1998 concluded that for most strategies reviewed there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions regarding their effectiveness (Kowanko 1998). The other more recent review focused on patients with head and neck cancer only and the main analysis combined all the interventions in one meta-analysis and found a beneficial effect of prophylactic interventions (Sunderland 2001).

A previous version of this Cochrane review looked at the use of oral and prophylactic agents for the prevention of oral mucositis and oral candidiasis in patients with cancer treated by chemotherapy (Clarkson 2003a). The review concluded that there was some evidence that using ice chips during the chemotherapy treatment was effective in preventing mucositis. This updated review broadens the oral mucositis part of that review and looks at the prevention of oral mucositis in patients receiving any treatment for cancer, including patients with all types of cancer, including head and neck cancer, and including comparisons between any

interventions for prevention. A second review updating the prevention of oral candidiasis has also been recently published on The Cochrane Library (Worthington 2003a). These reviews form part of a series of four Cochrane reviews on the prevention and treatment of oral mucositis and oral candidiasis (Clarkson 2003b; Worthington 2003b).

OBJECTIVES

To evaluate the effectiveness of interventions (which may include placebo or no treatment) for the prevention of oral mucositis in patients with cancer receiving chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy.

The following primary null hypothesis was tested for comparisons between groups receiving interventions to prevent oral mucositis during cancer treatment:

There is no difference in the proportion of patients acquiring oral mucositis during cancer treatment.

In this review we proposed to address the hypothesis of no difference between groups treated for oral mucositis for the following outcomes if data were available:

- Relief of pain
- Amount of analgesia
- Relief of dysphagia
- Incidence of systemic infection
- Days of stay in hospital
- Cost of oral care
- Patient quality of life.

The following subgroup analyses were proposed:

- Cancer type (leukaemia, head and neck, other solid tumours and mixed)
- Age group (adults, children or both).

CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW

Types of studies

Only randomised controlled trials were eligible for inclusion in this review, including both cross-over and parallel group studies.

Types of participants

Anyone with cancer who received chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy.

Types of intervention

Active agents: any agent prescribed prophylactically for oral mucositis.

Control: may be placebo or no treatment, or another active intervention.

Types of outcome measures

The following outcomes were considered in this review:

- Mucositis (at all levels of severity) (ulcers)
- Relief of pain
- Amount of analgesia
- Relief of dysphagia
- Incidence of systemic infection
- Days of stay in hospital
- Cost of oral care
- Patient quality of life.

SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES

See: Oral Health Group methods used in reviews.

This review is part of a series of four reviews on the prevention and treatment of oral candidiasis and oral mucositis in patients with cancer, and the same search strategy was used for all four reviews.

The search attempted to identify all relevant trials irrespective of language. Papers not in English were translated by members of the Cochrane Collaboration.

Electronic searching - the databases searched were:

- The Cochrane Oral Health Group's Trials Register (May 2002)
- The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (The Cochrane Library Issue 2, 2002)
- MEDLINE (from 1966 to May 2002)
- EMBASE (from 1974 to June 2002).

Sensitive search strategies were developed for each database (available from the authors on request) using a combination of free text and Mesh terms. The search strategy for CENTRAL is given as an example below: 1.NEOPLASMS*:ME 2.LEUKEMIA* ME 3.LYMPHOMA* ME 4.RADIOTHERAPY*:ME 5.BONE-MARROW-TRANSPLANTATION:ME 6.neoplasm* 7.cancer* 8.(leukemi* OR leukaemi*) 9.(tumour* OR tumor*) 10.malignan*

11.neutropeni* 12.carcino* 13.adenocarcinoma* 14.lymphoma* 15.radioth* OR radiat* OR irradiat* OR radiochemo* 16.((bone NEXT marrow) NEAR transplant*) 17.chemo* 18.#1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 OR #9 OE #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 OR #17 19. STOMATITIS*:ME 20.CANDIDIASIS-ORAL:ME 21.stomatitis 22.mucositis 23.oral AND cand* 24.oral NEAR mucos* 25.oral AND fung* 26.mycosis OR mycotic OR thrush 27.#19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 28.#18 AND #27

Only handsearching carried out by the Cochrane Collaboration is included in the search (*see* master list http://www.cochrane. org).

The reference list of related review articles and all articles obtained were checked for further trials. Authors of trial reports and specialists in the field known to the reviewers were written to concerning further published and unpublished trials. The review will be updated every 2 years using the Cochrane Oral Health Group's Trials Register, CENTRAL, MEDLINE and EMBASE.

Date of most recent searches June 2002 (CENTRAL) (The Cochrane Library Issue 2, 2002).

METHODS OF THE REVIEW

The titles and abstracts (when available) of all reports identified through the searches were scanned by two reviewers (Jan Clarkson (JC) and Helen Worthington (HW)). Full reports were obtained for trials appearing to meet the inclusion criteria, or for which there was insufficient information in the title and abstract to make a clear decision. The full reports obtained from all the electronic and other methods of searching were assessed independently, in duplicate, by these two reviewers to establish whether the trials met the inclusion criteria or not. Disagreements were resolved by discussion.

The quality assessment of included trials was undertaken independently and in duplicate by two reviewers as part of the data extraction process. Included trials were assessed on three criteria, concealed allocation of treatment (A = adequate, B = unclear, C = inadequate), blinding of patients (0 = no, 1 = yes, 2 = unclear), carers and outcome assessors (0 = no, 1 = yes, 2 = unclear), and information on reasons for withdrawal by trial group (0 = no, 1 = yes). The agreement between the reviewers was assessed by calculating the kappa score.

Data were extracted by two reviewers independently using specially designed data extraction forms. The characteristics of the trial participants, interventions and outcomes in the included trials are presented in the study tables. Mucositis may be dichotomised at different levels of severity. In order to maximise the availability of similar outcome data we recorded the number of patients in each category of mucositis. Pain was assessed on visual analogue scales (0 to 100), the means and standard deviations for each group were recorded. The duration of trials and timing of assessments were recorded in order to make a decision about which to include for commonality. We also recorded the country where the trial was conducted and whether a dentist was involved in the investigation. Some of the authors were contacted for clarification or for further information.

DATA SYNTHESIS

For dichotomous outcomes, the estimates of effect of an intervention were expressed as relative risks together with 95% confidence intervals, apart from meta-analyses including cross-over studies, where odds ratios were used.

We planned to investigate clinical heterogeneity by examining the different cancer types and age groups, however there were insufficient trials to undertake this. Meta-analyses were done only with studies of similar comparisons reporting the same mucositis outcome measures. Relative risks were combined for dichotomous data using random effects models. The significance of any discrepancies in the estimates of the treatment effects from the different trials was assessed by means of Cochran's test for heterogeneity.

CROSS-OVER TRIALS

The treatment effects from cross-over trials were combined with those from parallel group trials where appropriate, using the data from both periods of the cross-over studies. Stata was used for this analysis, outside RevMan (Elbourne 2002). Where data for the cross-tabulation of pairs was not available, all possible paired comparisons for each study were calculated. In situations where more than one data cross-tabulation was possible, the scenarios taking the most extreme cases were considered and incorporated into any meta-analysis.

It was planned to undertake a sensitivity analysis to examine the effect of concealed allocation and blind outcome assessment on the overall estimates of effect. However there were insufficient trials in any specific intervention group to undertake this.

We proposed a priori to conduct subgroup analyses for different cancer types (head and neck, other solid tumours, leukaemia and mixed) and age groups (children, adults and mixed). However there were insufficient trials by intervention type to do this.

DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE TRIAL SETTINGS AND IN-VESTIGATORS

See 'Characteristics of included studies' table. See 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table.

There were 109 trials eligible for inclusion in the review. Fiftyseven of these trials were excluded for the following reasons:

- abstracts giving insufficient information (15 trial reports: Antonadou 1998; Costa 1999; Etiz 1998; Epstein 1999; Evans 1990; Harris 1995; Leong 1995; Levendag 1998; Marcial 1994; Okuno 1998; Pfeiffer 1989; Pouli 1999; Suc 1999; Vitello 2000; Wymenga 1999)
- mucositis data presented in the form of mean scores, which were not in an appropriate form for this review (23 trial reports: Apaydin 1996; Barasch 1995; Bensadoun 1999; Cowen 1997; Dudjak 1987; Epstein 1989; Epstein 1992; Epstein 1994; Etiz 2000; Feber 1996; Grotz 2001; Hanson 1997; Jebb 1995; Kenny 1990; Lievens 1998; Lopez 1994; McGaw 1985; Prada 1985; Raether 1989; Rutkauskas 1993; Samaranayake 1988; Verdi 1995; Weisdorf 1989)
- mucositis data not in appropriate form for other reasons than that given above (eight trial reports: Anderson 1998b; Chi 1995; Decker-Baummann 1999; Epstein 1986; Epstein 2001; Nicholl 1995; Niibe 1985b; Vacha 1999)
- data presented as episodes rather than patients, where patients were re-entered into the study, so data not independent (two trials: Hickey 1982; Karthaus 1998)
- major change to protocol half way through study (one trial: Okuno 1997)
- investigation of new cancer treatment, where mucositis was minor side effect (one trial: Cunningham 1995)
- qualitative assessment of mucositis (one trial: McIlroy 1996)
- comparing different radiotherapy regimens (one trial: Falcone 2001)
- randomised controlled trial (RCT) design fault (two trials: Erkisi 1996; Rocke 1993)
- not RCT (three trials: Edelman 1998; Fahlke 1999; Sato 1997).

Of the 52 included trials 46 were designed as parallel group studies and six as cross-over studies (Anderson 1998; Dozono 1989; Jebb 1994; Loprinzi 1990; Mahood 1991; Pfeiffer 1990). None of the published reports gave the 'paired' data in an appropriate form to be used in a meta-analysis. All the authors were contacted and replies were received supplying data for three studies (Anderson 1998; Loprinzi 1990; Mahood 1991). Other data had to be extracted as outlined in the methods section. Of the 52 included trials all included data on assessment of mucositis. Nineteen (37%) trials were conducted in USA or Canada, 21 (40%) in Europe, three trials in Japan, two in India and one in each of the following countries: Mexico, Taiwan, China, Turkey, Israel, Hong Kong and one multicentre study in the USA and European countries. Only two trials were muticentre that included patients in more than one country (Brizel 2000; Nemunaitis 1995). Thirtyone trials received external funding, with this being unclear in a further 11 trials and with no external funding evident in 10 trials. A dentist was involved in 14 of the trials and in six trials the patient was involved in the clinical outcome measure.

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PARTICIPANTS

Forty-three (83%) of the included trials recruited only adult patients, seven included both adults and children (with a difference in age as large as 1-70 years), only one trial was conducted solely on paediatric patients (Shenep 1988) and the age range was unclear in one study (Mahood 1991). The type of cancer for which patients were being treated was exclusively head and neck cancer in 25 trials (48%), leukaemia in five trials, solid tumours in 10 trials and a combination of haematological and solid tumours in nine trials, the cancer type being unclear in three trials. The radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy regimen was described in most of the trials though the chemotherapeutic agents were not always described in full detail. Of the five trials involving patients treated for leukaemia three were studies involving patients receiving a bone marrow transplant and the corresponding figure for mixed cancers was five. The chemotherapy regimen included 5-FU in six of the 10 trials for patients with solid tumours although it was not always clear if the dose was in a bolus or continuous form. Trials in which patients received radiotherapy generally gave information about the total and daily or weekly dose. Total radiotherapy for head and neck cancer was generally 60-74 Gy and the karnofsky performance > 60.

CHARACTERISTICS OF INTERVENTIONS

All of the 52 trials provided a clear description of the interventions including the dose and method of administration for the test and control group. The dosage of the test agents varied for similar products. All the trials used either a placebo (28 trials), a no treatment control (18 trials), or water (two trials), glycine, sugar solution, polycal, saline (one trial each) as a control group. Two trials included in the no treatment control group tested different oral care protocols and in each case one group received limited oral hygiene (Borowski 1994; Shieh 1997).

The interventions for the 52 studies assessing oral mucositis were:

- acyclovir (Bubley 1989)
- allopurinol mouthrinse (Dozono 1989; Loprinzi 1990)
- amifostine (Antonadou 2002; Bourhis 2000; Brizel 2000; Buntzel 1998; Koukourakis 2000; Niibe 1985)
- antibiotic pastille or paste (Symonds 1996; Wijers 2001)

- benzydamine (Prada 1987)
- camomile (Fidler 1996)
- chlorhexidine (Dodd 1996; Ferretti 1988; Ferretti 1990; Foote 1994; Spijkervet 1989; Wahlin 1989)
- clarithromycin antibiotic (Yuen 2001)
- folinic acid (Erlichman 1988)
- glutamine (Anderson 1998; Dickson 2000; Huang 2000; Jebb 1994; Okuno 1999)
- GM-CSF (Cartee 1995; Crawford 1999; Katano 1995; Makkonen 2000; Nemunaitis 1995; Van der Leslie 2001; Schneider 1999)
- hydrolytic enzymes (Gujral 2001; Kaul 1999)
- ice chips (Cascinu 1994, Mahood 1991)
- oral care (Borowski 1994; Shieh 1997)
- pentoxifyline (Attal 1993)
- povidone (Rahn 1997)
- prednisone (Leborgne 1997)
- propantheline (Ahmed 1993) anticholinergic
- prostaglandin (Duenas 1996; Labar 1993)
- sucralfate (Carter 1999; Cengiz 1999; Franzen 1995; Makkonen 1994; Pfeiffer 1990; Shenep 1988)
- traumeel (Oberbaum 2001).

CHARACTERISTICS OF OUTCOME MEASURES Mucositis

All trials used a graded scale to record the severity of mucositis. Most described the index used or referred to published criteria, mainly WHO or EROTC. Scales were similar to the five point WHO scale ranging from 0 (normal) to 4 (severe). The categories initially relate to visible changes in the mucosa and gradually record pain and inability to eat solid foods. Thirty-four studies provided information for an absent versus present dichotomy, 29 trials provided information dichotomising at grade 1 and 30 trials dichotomising at grade 2. The duration of the trials varied from a few days up a year after treatment. The interval during which mucositis was recorded varied from 5 to 90 days or until the end of the radiotherapy, or the leukocyte count was above 8000 mm³. Several studies presented data at different time points, with the median time point being 28 days. The nearest assessment to 28 days was used for all studies.

There was little consistency on the other outcome measures reported:

• Oral hygiene measures (Borowski 1994; Wahlin 1989)

- Relief of pain (Carter 1999; Cengiz 1999; Franzen 1995; Pfeiffer 1990; Van der Leslie 2001; Wijers 2001)
- Use of analgesia (morphine)(Attal 1993; Carter 1999; Cengiz 1999; Ferretti 1988; Makkonen 2000; Van der Leslie 2001)
- Duration or severity of dysphagia (Antonadou 2002; Bourhis 2000; Buntzel 1998; Cengiz 1999; Franzen 1995; Gujral 2001; Pfeiffer 1990; Prada 1987; Symonds 1996)
- Use of pareneral nutrition or feeding tube (Bourhis 2000; Carter 1999; Carter 1999; Dickson 2000; Yuen 2001)
- Incidence of systemic infection or use of antibiotics (Attal 1993; Borowski 1994; Crawford 1999; Ferretti 1990; Shenep 1988; Van der Leslie 2001; Yuen 2001)
- Febrile episodes (Ahmed 1993; Attal 1993; Borowski 1994; Duenas 1996; Katano 1995; Labar 1993; Shenep 1988; Van der Leslie 2001; Wahlin 1989; Yuen 2001)
- Blood changes (Ahmed 1993; Antonadou 2002; Buntzel 1998; Cartee 1995; Crawford 1999; Van der Leslie 2001)
- Treatment interruption (Antonadou 2002; Carter 1999; Makkonen 1994)
- Days of stay in hospital (Attal 1993; Dickson 2000; Duenas 1996; Van der Leslie 2001)
- Toxicity nausea/vomiting/constipation/diarrohea (Antonadou 2002; Bourhis 2000; Brizel 2000; Cengiz 1999; Dickson 2000; Duenas 1996; Labar 1993; Shenep 1988; Yuen 2001)
- Toxicity skin changes (Bourhis 2000; Buntzel 1998; Buntzel 1998; Gujral 2001; Shenep 1988; Yuen 2001)
- Toxicity unspecific (Fidler 1996; Makkonen 1994; Makkonen 2000; Okuno 1999)
- Xerostomia (Brizel 2000; Buntzel 1998; Cengiz 1999)
- Cost (Dodd 1996)
- Patient quality of life (no trials)
- Death (Ahmed 1993; Attal 1993; Brizel 2000; Ferretti 1988; Labar 1993; Makkonen 2000).

METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY

There was excellent agreement between the scores assigned by the two reviewers, with kappa values for concealment 0.88, patient blind 0.85, carer blind 0.90, outcome assessor blind 0.68 and clear description of withdrawals 0.72.

The results of the quality assessment for concealment of randomisation, blinding of outcome assessor and whether there is a clear explanation of drop outs by study group are given in 'Additional Table 01', using the criteria outlined in the methods section. Changes

in the quality assessment due to information from authors are shown by putting the initial assessment in parenthesis.

There was variation in the quality of the studies using the reported information and additional information provided by authors. Overall, 54% of the trials had adequate concealment of randomisation, in 58% the patient was blinded to treatment group, 52% the provider of treatment blinded, 60% the assessor blinded and in 63% adequate information of withdrawals was given with the reason specified by study group. Sixty per cent of trials (31/52) reported some external support and of these 19 acknowledged assistance from pharmaceutical companies. The quality of trials varied slightly in relation to funding with 68% of those funded having adequate allocation concealment compared with 33% in the unfunded trials (chi squared p-value = 0.015). However no other significant differences were found between funded and unfunded trials. Funded trials are more likely to use central randomisation by a statistician.

Twenty-four out of 44 (55%) investigators replied to our letters requesting further information and this changed the allocation concealment assessments from B to A in nine studies. Information provided about blinding and withdrawals changed the quality assessment scores for five trials and data were provided from four trials (Anderson 1998; Leborgne 1997; Loprinzi 1990; Mahood 1991).

RESULTS

109 reports of trials were initially identified as eligible according to the defined criteria for study design, participants, interventions and outcomes. The total number of included trials was 52; there were five duplicate reports and 57 studies were excluded, as the data presented were not in an accessible form for this review. *See* 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table for further information on this.

Of the 52 included studies all had data for mucositis appropriate for this review comprising 3594 randomised patients.

The interventions involving cross-over trials are allopurinol, glutamine, ice chips and sucralfate. As it was not possible to incorporate these trials using RevMan software, the data and analysis for these interventions appears in the 'Additional Tables 2 to 4'. The remainder of the results section presents the results relating to each intervention in alphabetical order.

 Acyclovir versus placebo (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01')

One trial compared acyclovir with a placebo (Bubley 1989). Data were provided for the dichotomy of mucositis 0 versus 1+. No statistically significant differences were found and therefore there is insufficient evidence to support or refute acyclovir as more or less effective than placebo. Allopurinal versus placebo/no treatment ('Additional Table 03 and Table 04')

Two trials, both designed as cross-over studies, compared allopurinal mouthrinse with placebo or no treatment (Dozono 1989; Loprinzi 1990). The pooled meta-analyses at both mucositis 0 versus 1+, and 0-1 versus 2+ dichotomies were non-significant, however the dichotomy 0-2 versus 3+ gave rise to a significant odds ratio of approximately zero, (95% confidence interval (CI): 0, 0.03) which was based on 34 adults with solid tumors, suggesting that allopurinal may reduce severe mucositis, when compared with a placebo. Both trials had adequate concealment of allocation, one had a blinded outcome assessment and there were no drop outs in either trial.

 Amifostine versus placebo/no treatment (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 02, 03')

Six trials compared amifostine with a placebo (Niibe 1985) or no treatment (Antonadou 2002, Bourhis 2000, Brizel 2000, Buntzel 1998, Koukourakis 2000). All trials recruited adults with head and neck cancer being treated with radiotherapy. Three trials provided data for mucositis at the level of 0 versus 1+, however, only one trial provided estimable data (Brizel 2000) because every patient experienced mucositis in the other two. There was a significant benefit for amifostine preventing mucositis in this trial with relative risk (RR) = 0.95 (95% CI: 0.91 to 0.99). At the dichotomy 0-1 versus 2+ one trial was significant (Brizel 2000) and in the pooled meta-analysis the five trials provided homogeneous data (Antonadou 2002; Bourhis 2000; Brizel 2000; Koukourakis 2000; Niibe 1985) demonstrating amifostine as more effective than placebo or no treatment at preventing mucositis RR = 0.83 (95% CI: 0.72 to 0.97, chi squared = 4.34, df = 3, p = 0.23). Two of the five trials providing data for the dichotomy of mucositis of 0-2 versus 3+ were significant (Antonadou 2002; Buntzel 1998) however, the pooled meta-analysis failed to reach significance (p = 0.07)and did not support amifostine as being more effective than no treatment at reducing the severity of mucositis RR = 0.54 (95% CI: 0.27 to 1.06, chi squared = 26.01, df = 4, p < 0.0001). This indicates that amifostine may prevent and reduce the severity of oral mucositis in adults with head and neck cancer treated with radiotherapy. This is based on evidence from five trials with 446 participants. In two of the trials the allocation concealment was adequate, none had a blinded outcome assessment and two had an adequate explanation of withdrawals, with withdrawals across the five trials ranging from 0% to 21%.

 Antibiotic pastille or paste versus placebo (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 02, 03')

One trial compared antibiotic pastilles with a placebo (Symonds 1996) and one trial antibiotic paste PTA with a placebo (Wijers 2001). For the outcome of mucositis 0 versus 1+ the pooled metaanalysis for the topical antibiotics was homogeneous and significant with mucositis prevented RR = 0.87 (95% CI: 0.79 to 0.97).

For the other dichotomies there was no evidence that antibiotic paste was more effective than placebo. This finding indicated that topical antibiotic may be beneficial at preventing mucositis is based on evidence from 198 adults treated for head and neck cancer, one trial was double blind and both trials failed to give clear information about allocation concealment.

• Benzydamine versus placebo (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01')

One trial compared benzydamine with a placebo (Prada 1987) and for the outcome of mucositis 0 versus 1+ there was evidence that it prevented mucositis compared to placebo RR = 0.67 (95% CI: 0.47 to 0.97). This finding is based on a single trial of only 36 participants and is therefore considered weak and unreliable evidence of a benefit.

 Camomile versus placebo (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 02, 03')

One trial compared camomile with a placebo (Fidler 1996). Data were provided for all three dichotomies of mucositis. No statistically significant differences were found therefore there is insufficient evidence to support or refute camomile as more or less effective than placebo.

Chlorhexidine versus placebo/no treatment (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcomes 01, 02, 03')

Six trials compared chlorhexidine with either a placebo or no treatment control group. All trials provided data on the incidence of mucositis which could be dichotomised at some level, along the five point scale (0-4). Four trials (Dodd 1996; Ferretti 1988; Ferretti 1990; Foote 1994) provided data for the first dichotomy (0 versus 1-4), and there was no evidence that the chlorhexidine mouthrinse was more effective than placebo or no treatment control in preventing mucositis RR = 0.67 (95% CI: 0.33 to 1.36, chi squared = 30, df = 4, p < 0.001). Only one trial (Foote 1994) provided data comparing mucositis dichotomised as 0-1 versus 2+ , and this was not significant, data from this trial failing to show a benefit for chlorhexidine. Three trials (Foote 1994; Spijkervet 1989; Wahlin 1989) provided data for the third dichotomy of mucositis 0-2 versus 3+ and once again this was not significant, with no benefit for chlorhexidine being demonstrated.

 Folinic acid versus no treatment (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 02, 03')

One trial compared folinic acid with a no treatment control group (Erlichman 1988). Participants in the no treatment group were less likely to experience mucositis compared with those receiving folinic acid. This difference was statistically significant for the dichotomies of mucositis 0 versus 1 + RR = 3.65 (95% CI: 2.38 to 5.58) and mucositis 0-1 versus 2 +, RR = 2.38 (95% CI: 1.35 to 4.21). This trial was published in 1988 and initially involved 130 patients receiving 5 FU chemotherapy for solid tumours. It was unclear if the assessor was blinded to the treatment group and

information on withdrawals was not provided. It provides weak evidence that folinic acid might induce mucositis compared with no treatment. This would be expected as folinic acid potentiates 5 FU cytotoxic activity.

• Glutamine versus placebo ('Additional Table 02, Table 03 and Table 04')

Five trials, two of which had a cross-over design, included the intervention glutamine compared with placebo (Anderson 1998; Dickson 2000; Huang 2000; Jebb 1994; Okuno 1999). None of the meta-analyses found any significant differences between glutamine and placebo. Two trials provided data for the first dichotomy 0 versus 1-4, however as every patient developed mucositis in one trial (Huang 2000), only the results from the other trial (Okuno 1999) could be considered. This study did not demonstrate a benefit for glutamine when compared with placebo. Five trials (Anderson 1998; Dickson 2000; Huang 2000; Jebb 1994; Okuno 1999) provided data for the 0-1 versus 2-4 dichotomy and three of these for the 0-2 versus 3-4 dichotomy. The meta-analyses demonstrated no evidence that glutamine prevented mucositis formation at any level of severity.

• GM-CSF versus placebo/no treatment (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 02, 03')

Seven trials compared GM-CSF with a placebo or no treatment control group. Five trials were placebo (Cartee 1995, Nemunaitis 1995, Van der Leslie 2001) two of which (Crawford 1999, Schneider 1999) compared filgrastim (recombinant human granulocytecolony stimulating factor) and two trials had a no treatment control group (Katano 1995, Makkonen 1994). Three trials provided data for the dichotomy of mucositis 0 versus 1+ (Crawford 1999; Katano 1995; Makkonen 1994) the meta-analysis was statistically significant with evidence that GM-CSF prevents mucositis RR = 0.51 (95% CI: 0.29 to 0.91, chi squared = 1.35, df = 1, p = 0.24). The data were homogeneous for the two contributing trials because in one trial every patient developed mucositis (Makkonen 1994). For the other dichotomies there was no evidence that GM-CSF was more effective than placebo or no treatment. Evidence for the benefit for GM-CSF is moderate based on two trials with data from 209 adults treated for solid tumours and in each study it was unclear if the assessor was blind. The absence of benefit at levels of mucositis other than absence or presence of mucositis suggests that it may prevent mucositis rather than reduce its severity.

 Hydrolytic enzymes versus no treatment (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 02, 03')

One trial compared hydrolytic enzymes with a no treatment control group (Gujral 2001) and one compared wobe-mugos with a no treatment control group (Kaul 1999). Both trials provided data for each of the meta-analyses. Individually the trials were significant for different levels of mucositis. The pooled meta-analysis did not find a difference for the dichotomy of mucositis absent versus present, however, significant differences were found for mucositis

0-1 versus 2+ RR = 0.49 (95% CI: 0.30 to 0.81) and for mucositis 0-2 versus 3+, RR = 0.18 (95% CI: 0.06 to 0.53). For both of these comparisons the data were homogeneous, based on 149 adults treated for head and neck cancer in open trials, one with adequate allocation concealment and unclear information on withdrawals in both. The evidence suggests that hydrolytic enzymes may reduce the severity of mucositis associated the treatment of head and neck cancer rather than prevent it.

• Ice chips versus no treatment ('Additional Table 02, Table 03 and Table 04')

Two trials (Cascinu 1994; Mahood 1991), one of which was designed as a cross-over trial compared ice chips with a no treatment control group. Significant differences were found at the first two dichotomies of mucositis, with odds ratios of 0.42 (95% CI: 0.19 to 0.93) and 0.36 (95% CI: 0.15 to 0.89) for absent versus present and 0-1 versus 2+ respectively. The evidence is moderate from two trials with 166 patients treated with 5 FU chemotherapy. The quality of the reporting of the trials varied and neither had a blinded outcome assessment. This indicated that ice chips may be beneficial in preventing or reducing the severity of mucositis for patients treated with 5 FU.

• Oral care versus no treatment or limited oral hygiene (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 02, 03')

Two trials compared oral care with no treatment or limited oral hygiene (Borowski 1994, Shieh 1997) and reported outcomes at different levels of mucositis. A significant difference was found for oral care versus no treatment (Shieh 1997) at the level of mucositis 0 versus 1+ with a relative risk of 0.60 (95% CI: 0.42 to 0.86). The other trial did not find a significant difference between intensive and limited oral hygiene. This indicates that oral care interventions may be beneficial in preventing mucositis however the evidence is weak and based on a single study of 30 adults treated for head and neck cancer with radiotherapy. There was adequate concealment of allocation, no drop outs and the outcome assessor was blinded to treatment group.

 Pentoxifyline versus no treatment (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 02')

One trial compared pentoxifyline with a no treatment control group (Attal 1993). Data were provided at the dichotomy of mucositis 0-1 versus 2+. No statistically significant differences were found therefore there is insufficient evidence to support or refute that pentoxifyline is more or less effective than no treatment.

• Povidone versus water (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 02, 03')

One trial compared povidone with water (Rahn 1997) and for each dichotomy of mucositis povidone was significantly more effective than water for mucositis 0 versus 1+, RR = 0.70 (95% CI: 0.53 to 0.93), mucositis 0-1 versus 2+ RR = 0.45 (95% CI: 0.28 to 0.73) and mucositis 0-2 versus 3+ RR = 0.31 (95% CI: 0.12 to 0.78).

This indicates that povidone may be beneficial at preventing and reducing the severity of mucositis. The evidence is weak based on a single study of 40 adults treated for head and neck cancer with unclear concealment of allocation, no drop outs and blinded outcome assessment.

Prednisone versus placebo (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 02, 03')

One trial compared prednisolone with a placebo (Leborgne 1997). Data were provided at all three dichotomies of mucositis. No statistically significant differences were found and therefore there is insufficient evidence to support or refute that prednisone is more or less effective than placebo.

 Propatheline versus placebo (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01')

One trial compared propatheline with a placebo (Ahmed 1993). Data were provided at the dichotomy of mucositis 0 versus 1+. No statistically significant differences were found and therefore there is insufficient evidence to support or refute that propatheline is more or less effective than placebo.

• Prostoglandin versus placebo (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01, 03')

Two trials compared prostoglandin with a placebo (Duenas 1996, Labar 1993). Data were provided for two of the dichotomies of mucositis. No statistically significant differences were found and therefore there is insufficient evidence to support or refute that prostoglandin is more or less effective than placebo.

• Sucralfate versus placebo ('Additional Table 02, Table 03 and Table 04')

Six trials, one of which had a cross-over design (Pfeiffer 1990), compared the intervention sucralfate with a placebo (Carter 1999; Cengiz 1999; Franzen 1995; Makkonen 1994; Pfeiffer 1990; Shenep 1988). Data were provided at three dichotomies of mucositis. No statistically significant differences were found and therefore there is insufficient evidence to support or refute that sucralfate is more or less effective than placebo.

 Systemic antibiotic clarithromycin versus no treatment (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 02')

One trial compared clarithromycin with no treatment (Yuen 2001). Data were provided at the dichotomy of mucositis 0-1 versus 2+. The difference was on the borderline of statistical significance RR = 0.69 (95% CI: 0.48 to 1.01). This indicated that this systemic antibiotic may reduce the severity of mucositis and the results may be considered with those of topical antibiotics.

• Traumeel versus placebo (MetaView 'Comparison 01', 'Outcome 01')

One trial compared traumeel with a placebo (Oberbaum 2001). Data were provided at the dichotomy of mucositis 0 versus 1+. No

statistically significant difference was found and therefore there is insufficient evidence to support or refute that traumeel is more or less effective than placebo.

ADDITIONAL OUTCOMES

The information relating to additional outcomes and side effects was variable across the 52 included studies. To explore these further, for the interventions found to be beneficial at preventing or reducing the severity of mucositis data were pooled and synthesised for side effects relating to amifostine (Meta-analysis 'Comparison 02' 'Outcome 01') and GM-CSF (Meta-analysis 'Comparison 02' 'Outcome 02').

Of the six trials evaluating amifostine four reported seven side effects (Antonadou 2002; Brizel 2000; Bourhis 2000; Koukourakis 2000). For five of these, data from more than one study were available. No significant difference was found between amifostine and no treatment control for survival at 24 months, recurrence at 18 months after cancer treatment, incomplete response to radio-therapy, hypotension and nausea. Delay to radiotherapy was on the borderline of significance with those receiving amifostine less likely to have a delay to receiving radiotherapy for cancer however, it was based on a single study of 39 patients RR = 0.44 (95% CI: 0.19 to 1.01). The only significant finding was for vomiting with no patients in the control group compared with 10/182 treated with amifostine experiencing this side effect RR = 5.92 (95% CI: 1.03 to 33.91, chi squared = 1.01, df = 2, p = 0.6).

Of the seven trials evaluating GM-CSF only two provided useable data for side effects (Makkonen 2000; Nemunaitis 1995) and not the same side effect. No difference was found between patients receiving GM-CSF and no treatment control for survival at 24 months, survival at 12 months, relapse within 1 year or nausea. A significant difference was found for local skin reactions with patients receiving GM-CSF more likely to experience a rash RR = 27 (95% CI: 1.71 to 425).

NUMBER NEEDED TO TREAT

Numbers needed to treat (NNTs) have only been calculated for interventions with more than one study reporting mucositis at the level of absence versus present. The NNT to prevent one patient experiencing mucositis over a baseline incidence of 60% for amifostine is 33 (95% CI: 20 to 100), antibiotic paste or pastille 13 (95% CI: 8 to 50), GM-CSF 3 (95% CI: 2 to 20) and ice chips 5 (95% CI: 2 to 31). When baseline incidence is 40% or 90% the NNTs for amifostine are 50 and 20, for antibiotic paste or pastille 20 and 8, for GM-CSF 5 and 2 and for ice chips 6 and 10.

DISCUSSION

This review updates the evidence for interventions for the prevention of oral mucositis for patients receiving cancer treatment and includes considerably more evidence than the initial review (Clarkson 2003a). This is due to the inclusion of interventions for patients with head and neck cancer and the expansion of evidence in this area of cancer care. Oral mucositis is a common complication of cancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy causing severe pain and may limit the tolerability to chemotherapy and radiotherapy and consequently the effectiveness of treatment (Kowanko 1998).

The findings of this review should be considered in context with the general medical management of patients with cancer. Outcome measures, other than clinical scores for mucositis, were predominantly reported in recent publications. Rarely did they consider clinically meaningful outcomes such as oral pain, use of opiod analgesic, oral intake, quality of life, duration of hospital stay (Bellm 2002).

The number and range of interventions included in this review indicates the uncertainty and importance of this clinical topic. The 52 trials included in this review have evaluated 21 interventions and recruited 3594 patients. The country of conduct, financial support and the design of trials have varied. Surprisingly despite the common recruitment of patients into multicentre cancer treatment trials the same has not happened for their oral care. The two multicentre trials were the largest with respect to patient recruitment. The lack of duplication of studies investigating the same interventions limits the strength of evidence and generalisability.

The eligible trials for this review varied in their design and quality and it was especially unfortunate that 34 studies presented data in an unusable form. We feel that the use of structured abstracts and adherence to the CONSORT guidelines will greatly improve the reporting and hopefully the conduct of randomised controlled trials (RCTs) (Begg 1996; Moher 2001). With respect to publication bias, several negative studies for mucositis have been reported and we congratulate the authors and editors for doing so. It was not possible to detect any existing publication bias, as there were insufficient studies in each meta-analysis investigating the same interventions.

The setting of the included trials varied with the majority being conducted by medical teams who did not report any involvement with a dentist (73%). An issue that was not considered in any of the trials was the reliability and validity of the outcome measures assessed. The appearance of the mucositis and oral candidiasis can be similar; therefore if the assessor is neither trained nor experienced in the diagnosis of these oral lesions, the validity might be affected. Scores of mucositis were not always defined although there was consistency in the number of categories of the indices used, with the lowest indicating no mucositis.

The reporting of outcomes other than mucositis was variable and they were reported more frequently in trials published within the last 5 years than before. The type of outcomes reported has changed to reflect more the characteristics identified as clinically meaningful and important to patients (Bellm 2002). Only interventions to prevent mucositis were included in this review however using a

range of dichotomies for mucositis the findings can be interpreted also as reduction in severity.

Nine of the 21 interventions were found to have some evidence of a benefit (albeit sometimes weak) in preventing or reducing the severity of mucositis. One intervention, folinic acid, was significantly worse than placebo. A summary of the nine potentially effective interventions is given below:

- Allopurinal is a xanthine-oxidase inhibitor thought to reduce the mucosal toxicity of chemotherapy drugs. The evidence for its use as a mouthwash is a significant odds ratio of approximately zero (95% confidence interval (CI): 0, 0.03) only for a reduction in severe mucositis (Grades 0-2 versus 3) whilst thisappears to be a strong finding it is possibly unreliable as it is based on two small trials.
- Amifostine is an aminothiol free radical scavenger. It appears to have small benefit in preventing relative risk (RR) = 0.95 (95% CI: 0.91to 0.99) and reducing the severity of mild mucositis RR = 0.83 (95% CI: 0.72 to 0.97). This is based on the largest body of evidence found in this review, from five trials with 446 participants. The side effects of amifostine were not significantly different to no treatment for survival at 24 months, recurrence at 18 months after cancer treatment, incomplete response to radiotherapy, hypotension and nausea. Delay to radiotherapy was on the borderline of significance with those receiving amifostine less likely to experience a delay RR = 0.44 (95% CI: 0.19 to 1.01). The only significant finding was for vomiting with no patients in the control group compared with 10/182 treated with amifostine experiencing this side effect RR = 5.92 (95% CI: 1.03 to 33.91).
- Antibiotic as a topical pastille or paste may be beneficial at preventing mucositis RR = 0.87 (95% CI: 0.79 to 0.97) based on two trials with evidence from 198 adults treated for head and neck cancer. The borderline significant result for systemic antibiotics reinforces the potential of antibiotics having some mild benefit.
- Benzydamine, an indirect cytoprotectant, was compared to placebo in one trial and was found to be significantly more effective for preventing mucositis RR = 0.67 (95% CI: 0.47 to 0.97). The evidence is weak based on one trial of 36 adult patients with head and neck cancer.
- GM-CSF and related products are cytokines which stimulate haemopoesis and modulate leukocyte functions. Three trials provided evidence that GM-CSF prevents mucositis RR = 0.51 (95% CI: 0.29 to 0.91) and these data were from 249 adults treated for solid tumours. In the absence of evidence for benefit at other levels of mucositis it suggests that GM-CSF may prevent mucositis rather than reduce its severity. Two trials provided useable data for side effects and no difference was found between patients receiving GM-CSF and no treatment control for survival at 24 months, survival at 12 months, relapse within

1 year or nausea. A significant difference was found for local skin reactions with patients receiving GM-CSF more likely to experience a rash RR = 27 (95% CI: 1.71 to 425).

- Hydrolytic enzymes have analgesic and anti-inflammatory properties. Two trials provided evidence of moderate benefit at reducing the severity if mucositis rather than preventing it with mucositis 0-1 versus 2+ RR = 0.49 (95% CI: 0.30 to 0.81) and mucositis 0-2 versus 3+ RR = 0.18 (95% CI: 0.06 to 0.53). For both of these comparisons the data were homogeneous, based on 149 adults treated for head and neck cancer in open trials.
- Ice chips are thought to act by producing local vasoconstriction therefore limiting the cytotoxic effects of chemotherapy. The evidence is moderate from two trials with 166 patients treated with 5 FU chemotherapy. Significant differences were found at two dichotomies of mucositis, with odds ratios of 0.42 (95% CI: 0.19 to 0.93) and 0.36 (95% CI: 0.15 to 0.89) for absent versus present and 0-1 versus 2+ respectively.
- Povidone was compared to water in only one trial and for each dichotomy of mucositis povidone was significantly more effective than water with RRs 0.70 (95% CI: 0.53 to 0.93), 0.45 (95% CI: 0.28 to 0.73) and 0.31 (95% CI: 0.12 to 0.78) respectively. The evidence is weak based on a single study of 40 adults treated for head and neck cancer.
- Oral care is compared with no treatment in two trials, however only one trial found a significant difference for oral care versus no treatment at the level of mucositis 0 versus 1+ with a relative risk of 0.60 (95% CI: 0.42 to 0.86). The evidence that oral care interventions may be beneficial in preventing mucositis is weak, based on a single study of 30 adults treated for head and neck cancer with radiotherapy.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

Several of the interventions were found to have some benefit at preventing or reducing the severity of mucositis associated with cancer treatment. The strength of the evidence was variable and implications for practice include consideration of the fact that benefits may be specific for certain cancer types and treatment.

Implications for research

There is a need for well designed and conducted trials with sufficient numbers of participants to perform subgroup analyses by type of disease and chemotherapeutic agent. This review has highlighted several interventions for which further research into the benefits and harms should be conducted. There should be continued evaluation of agents for mucositis. Outcome measures of any future trial should address the link between oral and general health including the outcomes relevant to the patient and as a

minimum they should include the reduction of oral pain, the use of opiod analgesics, improvement in oral intake and quality of life, and reduction of hospitalisation duration. Collaboration between medical and dental teams is indicated with a consensus on the choice of objective oral indices for mucositis.

NOTES

The title of the protocol was originally 'Oral care for patients with cancer treated with chemotherapy (excluding head and neck cancer)'.

POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF

None known.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks go to Sylvia Bickley, Trials Search Co-ordinator for the Oral Health Group for carrying out the searches for the review, Emma Tavender, Co-ordinator for the Oral Health Group for her help with the administration of the review which included sending out letters to authors, and Luisa Fernandez for her help in locating all the articles for the review. The help and expertise of the following is gratefully acknowledged: Marco Esposito (Italian translations; Goteborg University), Tatiana Macfarlane (Italian translations; University of Manchester) and Mikako Hayashi and Kumiko Kasashi (Japanese translations; University of Osaka) for providing translations of the trial reports and completing the data extraction forms.

We would also like to thank the following investigators who replied to our request for additional information about their trials: Professors S Cascinu, MJ Dodd, GA Ferretti, P Gotzshe, CL Loprinzi, S Wang and Drs PM Anderson, J Bourhis, H Brincker, TC Dickson, A Duenas-Gonzalas, GA Ferretti, R Foote, L Frazen, E Huang, SA Jebb, M Katano, J Leborgne, SH Okuno, R Rahn, JL Shenep, JA Sloan, RP Symonds, YB Wahlin.

We would also like to thank those who have provided comments and editorial input into this review.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

External sources of support

No sources of support supplied

Internal sources of support

- Chief Scientists Office, Scottish Executive UK
- NHS Education for Scotland UK
- University of Dundee UK
- University of Manchester UK

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Ahmed T, Engelking C, Szalyga J, Helson L, Coombe N, Cook P, et al. Propantheline prevention of mucositis from etoposide. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1993;**12**:131–2.

Anderson 1998 {published and unpublished data}

Anderson PM, Schroeder G, Skubitz KM. Oral glutamine reduces the duration and severity of stomatitis after cytotoxic cancer chemotherapy. *Cancer* 1998;**83**:1433–9.

Antonadou 2002 {published data only}

Antonadou D, Pepelassi M, Synodinou M, Puglisi M, Throuvalas N. Prophylactic use of amifostine to prevent radiochemotherapy-induced mucositis and xerostomia in head-and-neck cancer. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 2002;**52**(3): 739–47.

Attal 1993 {published data only}

Attal M, Huguet F, Rubie H, Charlet J-P, Schlaifer D, Huynh A, et al. Prevention of regimen-related toxicities after bone marrow transplantation by pentoxifylline: A prospective, randomized trial. *Blood* 1993;**82**(3):732–6.

Borowski 1994 {published data only}

Borowski B, Benhamou E, Laplanche A, Margainaud JP, Hayat M. Prevention of oral mucositis in patients treated with high-dose chemotherapy and bone marrow transplantation: A randomised controlled trial comparing two protocols of dental care. *European Journal of Cancer B Oral Oncology* 1994;**30B**(2):93–7.

Bourhis 2000 {published data only}

Bourhis J, Crevoisier RDe, Abdulkarim B, Deutsch E, Lusinchi A, Luboinski, et al. A randomized study of very accelerated radiotherapy with and without amifostine in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 2000;**46**(5):1105–8.

Brizel 2000 {published data only}

Brizel DM, Wasserman MH, Strnad V, Rudat V, Monnier A, Eschwege F, et al. Phase III Randomized trial of amifostine as a radioprotector in head and neck cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2000; **18**(19):3339–45.

Bubley 1989 {published data only}

Bubley GJ, Chapman B, Chapman SK, Crumpacker CS, Schnipper LE. Effect of acyclovir on radiation- and chemotherapy-induced

Ahmed 1993 {published data only}

mouth lesions. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 1989;**33**(6): 862–5.

Buntzel 1998 {published data only}

Bennett CL, Lane D, Stinson T, Glatzel M, Buntzel J. Economic Analysis of amifostine as adjunctive support for patients with advanced head and neck cancer: Preliminary results from a randomized phase II clinical trial from germany. *Cancer Investigation* 1998;**19**: 107–13.

Buntzel J, Kuttner K, Frohlich D, Glatzel M. Selective cytoprotection with amifostine in concurrent radiotherapy for head and neck cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 1998;**9**:505–9.

* Buntzel J, Schuth J, Kuttner K, Glatzel M. Radiochemotherapy with amifostine cytoprotection for head and neck cancer. *Support Care Cancer* 1998;**6**:155–60.

Cartee 1995 {published data only}

Cartee L, Petros WP, Rosner GL, Gilbert C, Moore S, Affronti ML, et al. Evaluation of GM-CSF mouthwash for prevention of chemotherapy-induced mucositis: a randomised, double blind, dose-ranging study. *Cytokine* 1995;7:471–7.

Carter 1999 {published data only}

Carter DL, Hebert ME, Smink K, Leopold KA, Clough RL, Brizel DM. Double blind randomized trial of sucralfate vs placebo radial radiotherapy for head and neck cancers. *Head and Neck* 1999;**21**(8): 760–6.

Cascinu 1994 {published and unpublished data}

Cascinu S, Fedeli A, Fedeli SL, Catalano G. Oral cooling (cryotherapy), an effective treatment for the prevention of 5-fluo-rouracil-induced stomatitis. *European Journal of Cancer B Oral On-cology* 1994;**30B**:234–6.

Cengiz 1999 {published data only}

Cengiz M, Ozyar E, Ozturk D, Akyol F, Atahan IL, Hayran M. Sucralfate in the prevention of radiation-induced oral mucositis. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology* 1999;**28**(1):40–3.

Crawford 1999 {published data only}

Crawford J, Tomita DK, Mazanet R, Glaspy J, Ozer H. Reduction of oral mucositis by filgrastim (r-metHuG-CSF) in patients receiving chemotherapy. *Cytokines, Cellular and Molecular Therapy* 1999; 5:187–93.

Dickson 2000 {published data only}

Cochlin Dickson TM, Wong RM, Offrin RS, Shizuru JA, Johnston LJ, Hu WW, et al. Effect of oral glutamine supplementation during bone marrow transplantation. *Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition* 2000;**24**(2):61–6.

Dodd 1996 {published and unpublished data}

Dodd MJ, Larson PJ, Dibble SL, Miaskowski C, Greenspan D, MacPhail L, et al. Randomised clinical trial of chlorhexidine versus placebo for prevention of oral mucositis in patients receiving chemo-therapy. *Oncological Nursing Forum* 1996;**23**:921–7.

Dozono 1989 {published data only}

Dozono H, Nakamurak K, Motoya T, Shinmura R, Miwa K, Ishibashi M, et al. Prevention of stomatitis induced by anti-cancer drugs. *Gan-to-kagaku-ryoho* 1989;**16**:3449–51.

Duenas 1996 {published and unpublished data}

Duenas Gonzalez A, Sobrevilla Calvo P, Frias Mendivil M, Gallardo Rincon D, Lara Medina F, Aguilar Ponce L, et al. Misoprostol prophylaxis for high-dose chemotherapy-induced mucositis: a randomised double-blind study. Bone Marrow Transplantation 1996;17:809-12.

Erlichman 1988 {published data only}

Erlichman C. Fluorouracil and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Journal of Chemotherapy* 1990;**2**(S1):38–40.

* Erlichman C, Fine S, Wong A, Elhakim T. A randomized trial of fluorouracil and folonic acid in patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1988;**6**(3):469–75.

Ferretti 1988 {published and unpublished data}

Ferretti GA, Ash RC, Brown AT, Largent BM, Kaplan A, Lillich TT. Chlorhexidine for prophylaxis against oral infections and associated complications in patients receiving bone marrow transplants. *Journal* of American Dental Association 1987;**114**:461–7.

* Ferretti GA, Ash RC, Brown AT, Parr MD, Romond EH, Lillich TT. Control of oral mucositis and candidiasis in marrow transplantation: a prospective, double-blind trial of chlorhexidine digluconate oral rinse. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1988;**3**:483–93.

Ferretti 1990 {published and unpublished data}

Ferretti GA, Raybould TP, Brown AT, Macdonal JS, Greenwood M, Maruyama Y, et al. Chlorhexidine prophylaxis for chemotherapy- and radiotherapy- induced stomatitis: a randomised double-blind trial. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology* 1990;**69**:331–8.

Fidler 1996 {published data only}

Fidler P, Loprinzi CL, O'Fallon JR, Leitch JM, Lee JK, Hayes DL, et al. Prospective evaluation of a chamomile mouthwash for prevention of 5-FU-induced oral mucositis. *Cancer* 1996;77:522–5.

Foote 1994 {published data only}

Foote RL, Loprinzi CL, Frank AR, O'Fallon JR, Gulavita S, Tewfik HH, et al. Randomized trial of a chlorhexidine mouthwash for alleviation of radiation-induced mucositis. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1994;**12**(12):2630–3.

Franzen 1995 {published data only}

Franzen L, Henriksson R, LIttbrand B, Zackrisson B. Effects of sucralfate on mucositis during and following radiotherapy of malignancies in the head and neck region. *Acta Oncologica* 1995;**34**(2): 219–23.

Gujral 2001 {published data only}

Gujral MS, Patnaik PM, Kaul R, Parikh HK, Conradt C, Tamhankar CP, et al. Efficacy of hydrolytic enzymes in preventing radiation therapy-induced side effects in patients with head and neck cancers. *Cancer Chemotherapy Pharmacology* 2001;47:S23–S28.

Huang 2000 {published data only}

Huang E-Y, Leung SW, Wang C-J, Chen H-C, Sun L-M, Fang F-M, et al. Oral glutamine to alleviate radiation-induced oral mucositis: A pilot randomized trial. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 2000;**46**(3):535–9.

Jebb 1994 {published and unpublished data}

Jebb SA, Osborne RJ, Maughan TS, Mohideen N, Mack P, Mort D, et al. 5-fluorouracil and folinic acid-induced mucositis: no effect of oral glutamine supplementation. *British Journal of Cancer* 1994;**70**: 732–5.

Katano 1995 {published data only}

Katano M, Nakamura M, Matsuo T, Iyama A, Hisatsugu T. Effect of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) on chemotherapyinduced oral mucositis. *Surgery Today* 1995;**25**:202–6.

Kaul 1999 {published data only}

Kaul R, Mishra BK, Sutradar P, Choudhary V, Gujral MS. The role of wobe-mugos in reducing acute sequele of radiation in head and neck cancers - a clinical phase-III randomized trial. *Indian Journal of Cancer* 1999;**36**(June, Sept, Dec):141–8.

Koukourakis 2000 {published data only}

Koukourakis MI, Kyria G, Kakolyris S, Kouroussis C, Frangiadaki C, Giatromonaolaki A, et al. Subcutaneous administration of amifostine during fractionated radiotherapy: a randomized phase II study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2000;**18**(11 (June)):2226–33.

Labar 1993 {published data only}

Labar B, Mrsic M, Pavletic Z, Bogdanic V, Nemet D, Aurer I, et al. Prostaglandin E2 for prophylaxis of oral mucositis following BMT. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1993;**11**:379–82.

Leborgne 1997 {published data only}

Leborgne JH, Leborgne F, Zubizarreta E, Ortega B, Mezzara J. Corticosterioids and radiation mucositis in head and neck cancer. A double-blind placebo-controlled randomized trial. *Radiotherapy and Oncology* 1997;**47**:145–8.

Loprinzi 1990 {published and unpublished data}

* Loprinzi CL, Cainflone SG, Dose AM, Etzell PS, Burnham NL, Therneau TM, et al. A controlled evaluation of an allopurinol mouthwash as prophylaxis against 5-fluorouacil-induced stomatitis. *Cancer* 1990;**65**:1879–82.

Mahood 1991 {published data only}

Mahood DJ, Dose AM, Loprinzi CL, Veeder MH, Athmann LM, Thereau TM, et al. Inhibitation of fluorouracil-induced stomatitis by oral cryotherapy. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1991;**9**:449–52.

Makkonen 1994 {published data only}

Makkonen TA, Bostrom P, Vilja P, Joensuu H. Sucralfate mouth washing in the prevention of radiation-induced mucositis: A placebocontrolled double-blind randomized study. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 1994;**30**(1):177–82.

Makkonen 2000 {published data only}

Makkonen TA, Minn H, Jekunen A, Vilja P, Tuominen J, Joeensuu H. Granulocyte Macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and sucralfate in prevention of radiation-induced mucositis: A prospective randomized study. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 2000;**46**(3):525–34.

Nemunaitis 1995 {published data only}

Nemunaitis J, Rosenfield CS, Ash R, Freedman MH, Deeg HJ, Appelbaum F, et al. Phase III randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled trial of rhGM-CSF following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1995;**15**:949–54.

Niibe 1985 {published data only}

Niibe H, Takahashi I, Mitsuhashi N, Miyaishi K, Itoh J, Maehara Y, et al. An evaluation of the clinical usefulness of amifostine (YM-08310), radioprotective agent. A double-blind placebo-controlled study.1. Head and neck tumors. *Nippon-gan-chiryo-gakkai-shi* 1985;**20**:984–93.

Oberbaum 2001 {published data only}

Oberbaum M, Yaniv I, Ben-Gal Y, Stein J, Ben-zvi N, Freedman LS, et al. A randomized, controlled clinical trial of the homeopathic medication TRAUMEEL S in the treatment of chemotherapy-in-

duced stomatitis in children undergoing stem cell transplantation. *American Cancer Society* 2001;**92**:684–90.

Okuno 1999 {published data only}

Okuno SH, Woodhouse CO, Loprinzi CL, Sloan JA, LaVasseur BI, Clemens-Schutjer D, et al. Phase III controlled evaluation of glutamine for decreasing stomatitis in patients receiving fluorouracil (5-FU)-based chemotherapy. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1999;**22**(3):258–61.

Pfeiffer 1990 {published data only}

Pfeiffer P, Madsen EL, Hansen O, May O. Effect of prophylactic sucralfate suspension on stomatitis induced by cancer chemotherapy. *Acta Oncologica* 1990;**29**:171–3.

Prada 1987 {published data only}

Prada A, Chiesa F. Effects of benzydamine on the oral mucositis during antineoplastic radiotherapy and/or intra-arterial chemotherapy. *International Journal of Tissue Reaction* 1987;**9**(2):115–9.

Rahn 1997 {published data only}

Adamietz IA, Rahn R, Bottcher HD, Schafer V, Reimer K, Fleischer W. Prophylaxis of radiochemotherapy-induced mucositis. Efficacy of prophylactic oral rinsing with povidone iodine solution [Pophylaxe der radiochemotherapeutisch bedingten mukositis]. *Stranhlentherapie und Onkologie* 1998;**174**:149–55.

Adamietz IA, Rhan R, Bottcher HD, Schafer V, Reimar K, Fleischer W. Prophylaxis with povidone-iodine against induction of oral mucositis by radiochemotherapy. *Support Care Cancer* 1998;**6**:373–7.

Rahn R, Adamietz IA, Boettcher H-D, Schaefer V, Reimar K, Fleisher W. Povidone-iodine to prevent mucositis in patients during antineoplastic radiochemotherapy. *Dermatology* 1997;**195**:57–61.

Schneider 1999 {published data only}

Schneider SB, Nishimura RD, Zimmerman RP, Tran L, Shiplacoff J, Tormey M, et al. Filgrastim (r-metHuG-CSF) and its potential use in the reduction of radiation-induced oropharyngeal mucositis: An interim look at a randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Cytokines, Cellular and Molecular Therapy* 1999;**5**:175–80.

Shenep 1988 {published and unpublished data}

Shenep JL, Kalwinsky DK, Hutson PR, George SL, Dodge RK, Blankenship KR, et al. Efficacy of oral sucralfate suspension in prevention and treatment of chemotherapy-induced mucositis. *Journal* of *Pediatrics* 1988;**113**:758–63.

Shieh 1997 {published data only}

Shieh S-H, Wang S-T, Tsai S-T, Tseng C-C. Mouth care for nasopharyngeal cancer patients undergoing radiotherapy. *Oral Oncology* 1997;**33**(1):36–41.

Spijkervet 1989 {published data only}

Spijkervet FKL, Van Saene HKF, Panders AK, Vermey A, Van Saene JJM, Mehta DM. Effects of chlorhexidine rising on the oropharyngeal ecology in patients with head and neck cancer who have irradiation mucositis. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology* 1989;**67**: 154–61.

Symonds 1996 {published data only}

Symonds RP, McIlroy P, Khorrami J, Pyper E, Alcock SR, McCallum I, et al. The reduction of radiation mucositis by selective decontamination antibiotic pastilles: a placebo-controlled double-blind trial. *British Journal of Cancer* 1996;**74**:312–7.

Van der Leslie 2001 {published data only}

Van der Lelie H, Thomas BLM, Van Oers RHJ, Ek-Post M, Sjamsoedin SAS, van Dijk-Overtoom ML, et al. Effect of locally applied GM-CSF on oral mucositis after stem cell transplantation: a prospective placebo-controlled double-blind study. *Annals of Hematology* 2001;**80**:150–4.

Wahlin 1989 {published and unpublished data}

Wahlin YD. Effects of chlorhexidine mouth rinse on the oral health in patients with acute leukemia. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology* 1989;**68**:279–87.

Wijers 2001 {published data only}

Wijers OB, Lavendag PC, Harms ERE, Gan-Teng AM, Schmitz PIM, Hendriks WDH, et al. Mucositis reduction by selective elimination of oral flora in irradiated cancers of the head and neck: A placebocontrolled double-blind randomized study. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 2001;**50**:343–52.

Yuen 2001 {published data only}

Yuen KY, Woo PCY, Tai JWM, Lie AKW, Luk J, Liang R. Effects of clarithromycin on oral mucositis in bone marrow transplant recipients. *Haematologica* 2001;**86**:554–5.

References to studies excluded from this review Anderson 1998b

Anderson PM, Ramsay NKC, Shu XO, Rydholm N, Rogosheske J, Nicklow R, et al. Effect of low dose glutamine on painful stomatitis during bone marrow transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1998;**22**:339–44.

Antonadou 1998

Antonadou D, Athanassiou E, Synodinou M, Koliarakis N, Panoussaki K, Karageorgis P, et al. Evaluation of the efficacy of granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) in the prevention of radiation induced mucositis [abstract]. *Radiotherapy Oncology* 1998;**48**(S1):S39.

Apaydin 1996

Apaydin A, Karadeniz AN, Aysigi G, Blige N. The effect and therapeutical use of benzydamine HCL on radiation-induced oral cavity and oropharyngeal mucositis. *Medical Bulletin Istanbul* 1996;**29:1**: 59–63.

Barasch 1995

Barasch A, Peterson DE, Tanzer JM, D'Ambrososio JA, Nuki K, Schubert MM, et al. Helium-Neon laser effects on conditioning-induced oral mucositis in bone marrow transplantation patients. *Cancer* 1995;**76**:2550–6.

Bensadoun 1999

Bensadoun RJ, Ciais G, Carcourt V, Franquin JC, Cheynet C, Cowen D, et al. Low energy laser in the prevention of radiation induced mucositis: a phase II randomized multicentre study for patients with head and neck cancer. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 1999;7:SO–13.

* Bensadoun RJ, Franquin JC, Ciais G, Darcourt V, Schubert MM, Viot M, et al. Low-energy He/Ne laser in the prevention of radiation-induced mucositis. A multicentre phase III randomized study in patients with head and neck cancer. *Support Care Cancer* 1999;7 (4):244–52.

Chi 1995

Chi KH, Chen CH, Chan WK, Yen SH, Liang MJ, Chou KC, et al. Effect of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GH- CFS) on oral mucositis in head and neck cancer patients after cisplatin, 5-FU and leucovorin chemotherapy. *Proceedings of Annual Meeting American Society Clinical Oncologists* 1994;**13**:A1469.

* Chi KH, Chen SY, Chan WK, Yen SH, Liang MJ, Chou KC, et al. Effect of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GH-CFS) on oral mucositis in head and neck cancer patients after cisplatin, 5-FU and leucovorin chemotherapy. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1995;**13**(10):2620–8.

Costa 1999

Costa EMMB, Pinto LP, Fernandes MZ, Costa ALL. Preventing oral complications in leukemic children submitted to chemotherapy. *Journal of Dental Research* 1999;**78** (Abs No B-220):1021.

Cowen 1997

* Cowen D, Tardieu C, Schubert M, Peterson D, Resbeut M, Faucher C, et al. Low energy Helium-neon laser in the prevention of oral mucositis in patients undergoing bone marrow transplant: Results of a double blind randomized trial. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 1997;**38**(4):697–703.

Cowen D, Tardiew C, Resbeut M, Hannoun-Levi JM, Alzieu C, Schubert M, et al. Low energy helium-neon laser presents oral mucositis after high-dose chemo-radiotherapy: results of a double-blind randomized trial. *Internatinal Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 1996;**36**(1S):264 A1041.

Cunningham 1995

Cunningham D, Zalcberg JR, Rath U, Oliver I, Cutsem EV, Sevensson C, et al. 'Tomudex' (ZD1694): Results of a Randomised Trial in Advanced Colorectal Cancer demonstrate efficacy and reduced mucositis and leucopenia. *European Journal of Cancer* 1995;**31A**(12): 1945–54.

Decker-Baummann 1999

Decker-Baumann C, Buhl K, Frohmuller S, von Herbay A, Dueck M, Schlag PM. Reduction of chemotherapy-induced side-effects by parenteral glutamine supplementation in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *European Journal of Cancer* 1999;**35**(2):202–7.

Dudjak 1987

Dudjak LA. Mouth care for mucositis due to radiation therapy. *Cancer Nursing* 1987;**10**:131–40.

Edelman 1998

Edelman MJ, Gandara Dr, Perez EA, Lau D, Lauder I, Turrell C, et al. Phase I trial of edatrexate plus carboplatin in advanced solid tumors: amelioration of dose-limiting mucostis by ice chip chryotherapy. *Investigational New Drugs* 1998;**16**(1):69–75.

Epstein 1986

Epstein JB, Stephenson-Moore P. Benzydamine hydrochloride in prevention and management of pain in oral mucositis associated with radiation therapy. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology* 1986; **62**(2):145–8.

Epstein 1989

Epstein JB, Stephenson-Moore P, Jackson S, Mohamed JH, Spinelli JJ. Prevention of oral mucositis in radiation therapy: A controlled study with benzydamine hydrochloride rinse. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 1989;**16**:1571–5.

Epstein 1992

Epstein JB, Vickars L, Spinalli J, Reece D. Efficacy of chlorhexidine and nystatin rinses in prevention of oral complications in leukemia

and bone marrow transplantation. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology* 1992;**73**:682–9.

Epstein 1994

Epstein JB, Wong FLW. The efficacy of sucralfate suspension in the prevention of oral mucositis due to radiation therapy. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 1994;**28**(3):693–8.

Epstein 1999

Epstein J, Crockett R. Benzydamine HCL fro prophilaxis of irradiation induced oral mucositis: A randomized double-blind, multicenter study. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 1999;7:169.

Epstein 2001

Epstein JB, Silverman S, Paggiarino DA, Crokett S, Schubert MM, Senzer NN, et al. Benzydamine HCI for prophylaxis of radiationinduced oral mucositis. *American Cancer Society* 2001;**92**:875–85.

Erkisi 1996

Erkisi M, Erkurt E, Ozbarlas S, Burgut R, Doran F, Seyrek E. The use of recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in combination with single or fractionated doses of ifosfamide and doxorubicin in patients with advanced soft tissue sarcoma. *Journal of Chemotherapy* 1996;**8**(3):224–8.

Etiz 1998

Etiz M, Erkal HS, Serin M, Kucuk B, Hepari A, Tulunay O, et al. Clinicohistopathological evaluation of effectiveness of sucralfate in prevention of severe radiation-induced mucositis in patients with head and neck malignancies [abstract]. *Radiotherapy Oncology* 1998; **48**(S1):S68.

Etiz 2000

Etiz D, Erkal HS, Serin M, Kucuk B, Hepari A, Elhan AH, et al. Clinical and histopathological evaluation of sucralfate in prevention of oral mucositis induced by radiation therapy in patients with head and neck malignancies. *Oral Oncology* 2000;**36**:116–20.

Evans 1990

Evans G, Mahendra P, Brightwell M, Jestivfe K, Marcus R. A double blind randomised trial of oral GMCFS mouthwash versus placebo in the treatment of mucositis following PBSC/bone marrow transplantation [abstract]. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1998;**21**(S1):S88.

Evans WK, Wierzbicki R, Shepherd FA, Rusthoven J, Stewart DJ, Aitken SE, et al. 5-Fluorouracil with folinic acid is not effective against metastatic adenocarcinoma of the lung. *Cancer Investigation* 1990;**8**:345–9.

Fahlke 1999

Fahlke J, Ridwelski K, Lippert H. High-dose therapy with combined 5-fluorouracil and folinic acid with and without amifostine in the treatment of patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma. *International Journal of Colorectal Disease* 1999;**14**(2):128–30.

Falcone 2001

Falcone A, Allergrini G, Masi G, Lencioni M, Panner E, Brunetti I. 5-fluorouracil administered as a 48-hour chronomodulated infusion in combination with leucovorin and cisplatin: a randomized phase II study in metastatic colorectal cancer. *Oncology* 2001;**61**(1):28–35.

Feber 1996

Feber T. Management of mucositis in oral irradiation. *Clinical On*cology 1996;8:106–11.

Grotz 2001

Grotz KA, Wustenberg P, Kohnen R, Al-Nawas B, Zepelin H-V, Bockisch A, et al. Prophylaxis of radiogenic sialadenitis and mucositis by coumarin/troxerutine in patients with head and neck cancera prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. *British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery* 2001;**39**:34–9.

Hanson 1997

Hanson WR, Marks JE, Reddy SP, Simon S, Mihalo WE, Tova Y. Protection from radiation-induced oral mucositis by a mouth rinse containing the prostaglandin E1 analog, misoprostol: A placebo controlled double blind clinical trial. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 1997;**400B**:811–8.

Harris 1995

Harris JR, Russell NH, Hunter AE. Folinic acid mouthwashes do not reduce the degree of mucositis in patients undergoing allogeneic bone marrow transplantation [abstract]. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1995;**15**(S2):S164.

Hickey 1982

Hickey AJ, Toth BB, Lindquist SB. Effect of intravenous hyperalimentation and oral care on the development of oral stomatitis during cancer chemotherapy. *The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry* 1982;**47**(2): 188–93.

Jebb 1995

Jebb SA, Marcus R, Elia M. A pilot study of oral glutamine supplementation in patients receiving bone marrow transplants. *Clinical Nutrition* 1995;**14**:162–5.

Karthaus 1998

Karthaus M, Rosenthal C, Huebner G, Paul H, Elser C, Hertenstein B, et al. Effect of topical oral G-CSF on oral mucositis: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1998;**22**:781–5.

Kenny 1990

Kenny SA. Effect of two oral care protocols on the incidence of stomatitis in hematology patients. *Cancer nursing* 1990;**13**:345–53.

Leong 1995

Leong L, Sakurai C, Sebastian W, Shaw N, Grant E, Grant M, et al. Phase III trial assessing the use of oral thymidine (THY) for prevention of florouracil (5-FU)-induced mucositis. *Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the American Society for Clinical Oncology* 1995; **14**:A334.

Levendag 1998

Lavendag PC, Wijers OB, Harms RE, Schmitz PIM, Wilms BE, Visch LL. Mucositis prevention by selective elimination of oral flora in irradiated cancers of the head and neck: a prospective randomized study [abstract]. *Radiotherapy Oncology* 1998;**48**:S10.

Lievens 1998

Lievens Y, Haustermans k, Weyngaert VD, Bogaert WVD, Scalliet P, Hutsebaut L, et al. Does sucralfate reduce the acute side-affects in head and neck cancer treated with radiotherapy? A double-blind randomized trial. *Radiotherapy Oncology* 1998;**47**:149–53.

Lopez 1994

Lopez I, Goudou C, Ribrag V, Sauvage C, Georges Hazebroucq, Dreyfus F. Traitement des mucites par la vitamine E lors de l'administration d'anti-neoplasiques neutropeniants. *Annuals Medicine Interne* 1994;**145**(6):405–8.

Marcial 1994

Marcial F, Schubert M, Niccoli-Filho WD, Lloid ME, Kelly J, Franquin JC, et al. A phase I/II nonblinded randomized trial to determine the efficacy of low-energy laser to prevent oral mucositis resulting from conditioning regimens for bone marrow transplantation. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology* 1994;**78**(6):738.

McGaw 1985

McGaw WT, Belch A. Oral complications of acute leukemia: prophylactic impact of a chlorhexidine mouthrinse regimen. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology* 1985;**60**:275–80.

McIlroy 1996

McIlroy P. Radiation mucositis: a new approach to prevention and treatment. *European Journal of Cancer Care* 1996;**5**:153–8.

Nicholl 1995

Nicholl TA, Nimmo CR, Shepherd JD, Phillips P, Jewweson PJ. Amphotericin B infusion-related toxicity: comparison of two- and four-hour infusions. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* 1995;**29**(11):1081– 7.

Niibe 1985b

Niibe H, Takahashi I, Mitsuhashi N, Miyaishi K, Itoh J, Maehara Y, et al. An evaluation of the clinical usefulness of amifostine (YM-08310), radioprotective agent. A double-blind placebo-controlled study.2 Ab-dominal and pelvic tumours. *Nippon Gan Chiryo Gakkai Shi* 1985; **20**(5):994–1001.

Okuno 1997

Okuno SH, Foote RL, Loprinzi CL, Gulavita S, Sloan JA, Earle J, et al. A randomized trial of a nonabsorable antibiotic lozenge given to alleviate radiation-induced mucositis. *Cancer* 1997;**79**:2193–9.

Okuno 1998

Okuno SH, Swan L, Ebbert C. Phase III placebo-controlled clinical trial evaluation of glutamine for decreasing mucositis in patients receiving 5 FU (Fluorouracil)-based chemotherapy. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the American Society for Clinical Oncology. 1998.

Pfeiffer 1989

Pfeiffer P, May O. Sucralfate prophylaxis of chemotherapy-induced stomatitis. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the American Society for Clinical Oncology. 1989.

Pouli 1999

Pouli A, Nikiforakis E. A prospective randomized trial of GM-CFS mouthwash versus sodium bicarbonate mouthwash in the treatment of stomatitis following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1999;**23**:S166.

Prada 1985

Prada A, Lozza L, Moglia D, Sala L, Chiesa F. Effects of benzydamine on radio polychemotherapeutic mucositis on the oral cavity. *International of Journal Tissue Reaction* 1985;**3**:237–9.

Raether 1989

Raether D, Walker PO, Bostrum B, Weisdorf D. Effectiveness of oral chlorhexidine for reducing stomatitis in a pediatric bone marrow transplant population. *Pediatric Dentistry* 1989;**11**:37–42.

Rocke 1993

Rocke LK, Loprinzi CL, Lee JK, Kunselman SJ, Iverson RK, Finck G, et al. A randomized clinical trial of two different durations or

oral cryotherapy for prevention of 5-fluorouracil-related stomatitis. *Cancer* 1993;**72**:2234–8.

Rutkauskas 1993

Rutkauskas JS, Davis JW. Effects of chlorhexidine during immunosuppressive chemotherapy: A preliminary report. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology* 1993;76:441–8.

Samaranayake 1988

Samaranayake LP, Robertson AG, MacFarlane TW, Hunter IP, Mac-Farlane G, Soutar DS, et al. The effect of chlorhexidine and benzdamine mouthwashes on mucositis induced by therapeutic irradiation. *Clinical Radiology* 1988;**39**:291–4.

Sato 1997

Sato A, Kumagai S, Sakaki K, Morikawa H, Song ST, Mori S. Japanese [[Inhibition of 5-fluorouracil-cisplatin-induced stomatitis by oral cryotherapy: use of an ice-bar containing fibrinolysin and deoxyribonuclease comiben (Elase)]]. *Gan to Kagaku Ryoho [Japanese Journal of Cancer & Chemotherapy*] 1997;**24**(9):1135–9.

Suc 1999

Suc A, Gandemer V, Le Deley MC, Schmitt C, Pichard-Leandri E, French Group. Gum98: Preventing mucositis with chewing gum in children receiving chemotherapy, a multicentric trial. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 1999;**75** (Abs P-60):180.

Vacha 1999

Vacha P, Marx M, Engel A, Richter E, Feyerabend T. Side effects of postoperative radiochemotherapy with amisfostine versus radiotherapy alone in head and neck tumors. Preliminary results of a prospective randomized trial [[German] Nebenwirkungen einer posoperativen radiochemotherapie mit amifostin versus alleiniger radiochemotherapie bei kopf-hals-tumoren. Vorlaufige ergebnisse einer prospektiv randomisierten untersuchung]. *Strahlentherapie und onkologie* 1999;**175**(S4):18–22.

Verdi 1995

Verdi CJ, Garewal HS, Koenig LM, Vaughn B, Burkhead T. A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover trial of pentoxifline for the prevention of chemotherapy-induced oral mucositis. *Osomopore* 1995;**80**(1):36–42.

Vitello 2000

Vitello M, Cianio SG. A comparison of two mouthrinse agents used during head/neck radiation. *International Association for Dental Research* 2000;**79**:215.

Weisdorf 1989

Weisdorf DJ, Bostrom B, Raether D, Mattingly M, Walker P, Pihlstrom B, et al. Oropharyngeal mucositis complicating bone marrow transplantation: prognostic factors and the effect of chlorhexidine mouthrinse. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 1989;4:89–95.

Wymenga 1999

Wymenga ANM, van Graaf WTA der, Hofstra LS, Timens W, Spijkervet FKL, Hospers GAP, et al. TGF-b3 mouthwashes aimed at prevention of chemotherapy induced mucositis, a phase-I study. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 1999;7:168.

References to studies awaiting assessment

Foncuberta 2001

Additional references

Begg 1996

Begg C, Cho M, Eastwood S, Horton R, Moher D, Olkin I, et al. Improving the quality of reporting of randomized controlled trials: the CONSORT statement. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1996;**276**:637–9.

Bellm 2002

Bellm LA, Cunningham G, Durnell L, Eilers J, Epstein JB, Fleming T, et al. Defining clinically meaningful outcomes in the evaluation of new treatments for oral mucositis: oral mucositis patient provider advisory board. *Cancer Investigation* 2002;**20**(5-6):793–800.

Clarkson 2003b

Clarkson JE, Worthington HV, Eden OB. Interventions for treating oral candidiasis for patients with cancer receiving treatment (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, 2, 2003. Oxford: Update Software.

De Pauw 1997

De Paw 1997. Practical modalities for prevention of fungal infections for cancer patients. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiological Infectious Diseases* 1997;**16**(1):32–41.

Denning 1992

Denning DW, Donnelly JP, Hellreigel KP, Ito J, Martino P, van't Wout JW. Antifingal prophylaxis during neutropenia or allogeneic bone marrow transplantation: what is the state of the art?. *Chemotherapy* 1992;**38**(S1):43–9.

Elbourne 2002

Elbourne DR, Altman DG, Higgins J, Curtin F, Worthington HV, Vail A. Meta-analyses involving cross-over trials. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2002;**31**:140–9.

Gotzsche 1999

Gotzsche PC, Johansen HK. Routine versus selective antifungal administration for control of fungal infections in patients with cancer (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, 2, 1999. Oxford: Update software.

Jadad 1998

Jadad AR. Randomised Controlled Trials. London: BMJ Books, 1998.

Kowanko 1998

Kowanko I, Long L, Hodgkinson B, Evans D. The effectiveness of strategies for preventing and treating chemotherapy and radiation induced oral mucositis in patients with cancer. 1-84. Adelaide, S. Australia, Australia: Joanna Briggs Institute for Evidence Based Nursing and Midwifery, 1998.

Lortholary 1997

Lortholary O, Dupont B. Antifungal prophylaxis during neutropenia and immunodeficiency. *Clinical Microbiological Review* 1997;**10**(3): 477–504.

Meunier 1994

Meunier F, Paesmans M, Autier P. Values of antifungal prophylaxis with antifungal drugs against oropharyngeal candidiasis in cancer patients. *Oral Oncology, European Journal of Cancer* 1994;**30B(3)**: 196–9.

Moher 2001

Moher D, Schulz KF, Altman DG. The CONSORT statement: revised recommendations for improving the quality of reports of parallel-group randomized trials. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2001;**134** (8):657–62.

Stevens 1995

Stevens DA. Therapy for opportunistic fungal infections: past present and future. *Indian Journal of Cancer* 1995;**32**:1–9.

Sunderland 2001

Sutherland S E, Browman G P. Prophylaxis of oral mucositis in irradiated head-and-neck cancer patients: a proposed classification scheme of interventions and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology and Physics* 2001; **49**(4):917–30.

Symonds 1998

Symonds RP. Treatment-induced mucositis: an old problem with new remedies. *British Journal of Cancer* 1998;77(10):1689–95.

Verdi 1993

Verdi CJ. Cancer therapy and oral mucositis. *Drug Safety* 1993;**9**(3): 185–95.

White 1993

White M. Antifungal prophylaxis. *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases* 1993;**6**:737–43.

Worthington 2003a

Worthington HV, Clarkson JE, Eden OB. Interventions for treating oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, 2, 2003. Oxford: Update Software.

Worthington 2003b

Worthington HV, Clarkson JE, Eden OB. Interventions for preventing oral candidiasis for patients with cancer receiving treatment (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, 2, 2003. Oxford: Update Software.

References to other published versions of this review

Clarkson 2003a

Clarkson JE, Worthington HV, Eden OB. Interventions for preventing oral mucositis or oral candidiasis for patients with cancer receiving chemotherapy (excluding head and neck cancer) (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, 2, 2003. Oxford: Update Software.

*Indicates the major publication for the study

TABLES

Characteristics of included studies

Study	Ahmed 1993
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear informa- tion on withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: return of blood count or resolution of mucosistis.
Participants	Adults with haematological malignancies prior to BMT after conditioning with etoposide. 12 enrolled and completed.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus propantheline (30 mg every 6 hours during infusion and 12 hours after, for total of 6 doses).
Outcomes	Mucositis graded with reference to previous publication. Data presented as number of patients developing mucositis in both groups. Assessment used: day 3. Other reported outcomes: blood counts febrile episodes, survival, tumour response.
Notes	All patients received acyclovir, and nystatin or clotrimazole. Funding source: unclear.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Anderson 1998
Methods	Randomised, cross-over study conducted in USA. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear information on withdrawals. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 46%. Duration 14 days.
Participants	Children and adults with solid cancer who have previously had chemotherapy and experienced mucositis. 24 patients eligible and enrolled, 13 completed.
Interventions	2 groups, glycine control (described as placebo) versus glutamine (4 ml/M ² twice daily swish and swallow).
Outcomes	Mucositis (patient's description on 0-4 scale). Grade >= 2 painful mucositis which altered food intake. Assessment used: day 14. Other reported outcomes: none.
Notes	Funding source: private.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Antonadou 2002
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Greece. Patients, providers and assessors not blind. Clear information on withdrawals: 3/26 control, 2/24 test. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 10%. Duration 3 months.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. Radiotherapy total 60-74 Gy 2 Gy fractions 5 days weekly. Chemotherapy carboplatin (90 mg/m2 once per week (no surgery before radiotherapy). 50 patients enrolled, 45 completed.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment control versus amifostine 300 mg/m2 15-30 min before radiotherapy for 6-7 weeks.
Outcomes	Mucositis assessed weekly EORTC criteria. Assessment used: day 28. Other reported outcomes: dysphagia, xerostomia, treatment interruptions, haematological changes, side effects (nausea, transient hypotention).
Notes	Funding source: unclear.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Attal 1993
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in France. Patient and providers not blind, unclear whether assessor blind. Clear information on withdrawals: 6/70 control, 6/70 test. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: day -8 to day +100.
Participants	Adults with blood cancer admitted to BMT unit. 140 patients enrolled 6 died in each group, but all were evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment control versus pentoxifylline (oral PTX 1600 mg 1 per day in 4 doses).
Outcomes	Number requiring MSO4 for grade II or higher mucositis (by published criteria). Assessment used: day 100. Other reported outcomes: duration of stay in hospital, renal insufficiency, days morphine, fever, septicaemia, 100 day survival.
Notes	All patients received fluconazole, acyclovir and ranitidine. Funding source: unclear.
Allocation concealment	A
Study	Borowski 1994
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in France. Patient, providers and assessors not blind. Clear information on withdrawals: 7/82 control, 9/84 test. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 7%. Duration: 30 days.
Participants	Children and adults with blood cancer and candidates for BMT. 166 eligible and enrolled, 150 completing.
Interventions	2 groups, limited oral hygiene versus intense oral hygiene (brushing 3 times per day after meals as instructed by dentist).
Outcomes	Moderate or severe mucositis with detailed description of each category. Assessment used: day 30. Other outcomes: plaque, fever, septicaemia.
Notes	Chlorhexidine mouthrinse used at least 5 times daily by both groups. Funding source: unclear.
Allocation concealment	Α

Study	Bourhis 2000
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in France. Patients and providers not blind, unclear whether assessors blind. Unclear information on withdrawals: 1 died and 1 refused, unclear which group. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 8%. Duration: unclear.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer, stage IV not amenable to conventional radiosurgical treatment. Karnofsky performance > 60. Radiotherapy 64 Gy in 22-23 days. 26 patients enrolled, 24 were evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment control versus amifostine (subcutaneous infusion 150 mg/m ² amifostine administered IV twice daily 15-30 mins prior to each radiotherapy session).
Outcomes	Max WHO grade (I to IV). Assessment used: day 23. Other reported outcomes: duration of feeding tube, vomiting, liver function, erythaema (tolerance of amifostine). Duration of feeding tube.
Notes	RTOG index also given with mean duration of at least grade 3 mucositis. Funding source: pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	Α

Study	Brizel 2000
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted as multicentre USA, Germany and France. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear information about withdrawals: none. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 1 year.

Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. Newly diagnosed squamous cell radiation more than or equal to 70% both parotid glands more tahn or equal to 40 Gy - daily 2 Gy.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment control versus amifostine 200 mg/m2 daily 15-20 minutes prior to radiation.
Outcomes	Mucositis assessed weekly by physician. Radiation Therapy Oncology Group Scoring systems. Assessment used: day 90. Other reported outcomes: nausea, vomiting, xerostomia, saliva production, survival, local disease control.
Notes	Funding Source: pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	A

Study	Bubley 1989
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Unclear infor- mation on withdrawals. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: unclear. Duration: unclear.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. Prior positive titre to Herpes Simplex.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus acyclovir 200 mg tablets 12 hourly.
Outcomes	Mucositis assessed by nurse. Assessment used: unclear. Other reported outcomes: herpes simplex virus.
Notes	Data presented separately for patients receiving chemo and radiotherapy. Funding source: pharmaceutical.

Allocation concealment A

Study	Buntzel 1998
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Germany. Patient and providers not blind, unclear if assessors blind. Clear information on withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 6 weeks.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer, hospitalised with stage III-IV tumour, no evidence of systemic infection, liver or renal impairment, tumour resected or excised before adjuvant radiotherapy. 28 patients enrolled, 28 were evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, radiotherapy with or without amfostine (15 min infusion 500 mg preceded by antiemetic regime of 12 mg dexamethasone and 8 mg ondansetron).
Outcomes	WHO mucositis grades 3/4. Assessment used: day 42. Other reported outcomes: xerostomia, dysphagia, loss of taste, dermatitis, haematological side effects.
Notes	More data presented but included extra 11 patients in amifostine group who were not entered into study. Funding source: pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Cartee 1995
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patient, provider and assessor blind. Unclear informa- tion on withdrawals: 5 withdrew, unclear from which groups. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 10%. Duration: 21 days.
Participants	Adults with breast cancer stage IV, with combination of chemotherapy including 5-FU, Adriamycin & methotrexate. First cycle of chemotherapy. 50 patients were enrolled and 45 were evaluated.
Interventions	5 groups, 0.1% albumin (described as placebo, dose 0), GM-CSF (molgramostim, range of doses, 0.01, 0.10, 1.00, 10.00 mcg/ml. Mouthwash solutions administered 4 times daily starting 24 hours after chemotherapy initiation). continuing until end of cycle.
Outcomes	Mucositis (CALGB GRADE >= 3). Assessment used: day 15. Other reported outcomes: WBC, plasma GM-CSF.
Notes	Doses 0.01, 0.10, 1.00, 10.00 were combined and compared with dose 0 (control).

Characteristics of included studies (Continued)	
	Funding source: government.
Allocation concealment	A
Study	Carter 1999
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patient, provider and assessor blind. Clear information on withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: up to 4 months postradio-therapy.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer receiving curative intent radiotherapy, karnofsky performance > 60. 102 patients enrolled and 102 completed.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus sucralfate (added as suspension of 1 gm sucralfate/15 ml solution) swish 2 mins and swallow 4 times per day.
Outcomes	RTOG graded mucositis. Assessment used: maximum during treatment at 60 Gy. Other reported outcomes: pain, need for placement of feeding tube, use of narcotics, need for intravenuous fluids, diet, need for treatment break. All assessed weekly.
Notes	Funding source: unclear.
Allocation concealment	В
Study	Cascinu 1994
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Italy. Patient, provider and assessor not blind (c). Clear information on withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: unclear.
Participants	Adults with solid cancer (GI & prostate). Chemotherapy: 5-FU flurouracil. First course of chemotherapy. 84 patients eligible, enrolled and completed.
Interventions	2 groups, control (no treatment) versus ice chips (cryotherapy, 5 mins before 5-FU for 30 mins after). Checked every week and judgement on mucositis performed on day of next chemotherapy course.
Outcomes	Mucositis (Global assessment of physician's and patient's description on 0-4 scale). Assessment used: unclear.
Notes	Statistical handling of data incorrect as all cycles included but used data from first cycle. Funding source: unclear.
Allocation concealment	A
Study	Cengiz 1999
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Turkey. Patient and provider blind unclear if assessor blind. Clear information on withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration from beginning to end of radiotherapy.

Study	Crawford 1999
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patient blind, unclear whether assessor and provider was. Unclear information on withdrawals (previously described): 6/110 placebo, 6/101 test. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 9%. Duration: from day 4 to day 17 of cycle.

42. Other reported outcomes: pain, difficulty eating, constipation, analgesics, dry mouth.

Adults with head and neck cancer. 28 patients enrolled and completed.

2 groups, placebo versus sucralfate (6 g sucralfate suspension mouthwash 4 doses orally before meals and

RTOG mucositis (0-IV). Topical and systemic analgestic use, weight loss, dry mouth. Assessment used: day

Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment (Review) Copyright © 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

bedtime).

В

Funding source: unclear.

Participants

Interventions

Allocation concealment

Outcomes

Notes

Participants	Adults with small cell lung cancer. 211 patients enrolled, 199 evaluated, 195 evaluated on first cycle.
Interventions	2 groups: placebo (not described) versus filgrastim (230 ug/m ²).
Outcomes	WHO mucositis grades 0-4. Assessment used: day 21. Other reported outcomes: neutropenia, infections complications.
Notes	Used first cycle data. Funding source: unclear.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Dickson 2000
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patient not blind (c), assessor blind and unclear whether provider was. Clear information on withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: first day of treatment until discharge or max 28 days after transplant.
Participants	Adults receiving bone marrow transplant (BMT). 58 enrolled and evaluated with haematological and solid cancer.
Interventions	2 groups, sugar water (placebo) versus glutamine (30 g in 10 g doses mixed with food or liquid chosen by patient).
Outcomes	Stamford University Hospital BMT toxicity scale for mucositis scale 0-4. Reported as grade 2+. Parenteral nutrition with TPN. Assessment used: day 28. Other reported outcomes: length of hospital stay. Days in total, parenteral nutrition, diarrohea, toxicity.
Notes	Funding source: pharmaceutical supply product.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Dodd 1996
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patient not blind (c), providers and examiners were blind. Clear information on withdrawals: none. Dentist involved in study. Dop outs: 0%. Duration: up to 3 months.
Participants	Adults with solid cancer receiving chemotherapy. Followed for 3 cycles of chemotherapy. 303 eligible, 227 enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups: water control (described as placebo) versus chlorhexidine mouthrinse (0.12%, 20 ml, 2 times per day).
Outcomes	Oral Assessment Guide (OAG) 0-24, scores over 10 were considered to be oral mucositis. Maximum of 3 months. Assessment used: day 90. Other reported outcomes: cost.
Notes	Severity of mucositis at onset measured. Intent to treat analysis. Funding source: government.
Allocation concealment	A

Study	Dozono 1989
Methods	Randomised, cross-over study conducted in Japan. Patients and providers were not blind, it is unclear if assessor was. Clear information on withdrawals: none. Unclear if dentist was involved. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: unclear.
Participants	Adults with solid cancer receiving chemotherapy. 15 patients enrolled and completed both periods.
Interventions	2 groups: no treatment control versus allopurinol mouthwash (carboxymethylcellulose (CMC-Na) 5 g and allopurinol 500 mg, water to 500 ml solution).
Outcomes	Japan Society for Cancer Therapy criteria for stomatitis 0-4 scale.
Notes	Funding source: unclear.

Allocation concealment A

Study	Duenas 1996
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Mexico. Patients, providers and assessors were blind. Clear information on withdrawals: none. Unclear if dentist was involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: -4 to day 16.
Participants	Adults with mixed cancer undergoing peripheral stem cell transplant, receiving high dose (ifosfamide, car- biplatin, etoposide). 15 patients enrolled (16 course of chemotherapy).
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus misoprostol (racemic prostaglandin E1 analogue) 250 ug 3 times per day.
Outcomes	WHO mucositis grades 0-4, candidiasis, days in hospital with range. Assessment used: day 16. Other reported outcomes: diarrohea, fever, days in hospital, duration of antibiotics.
Notes	All patients received fluconazole prophylaxis. Also received ranitidine, ketoconazole & ciprofloxacin. Severity of mucositis also given but no SD. Study stopped prematurely due to a significant finding at an interim analysis, favouring the placebo. Funding source: government, pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	A
Study	Erlichman 1988
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Canada. Patients and providers not blind, unclear whether assessor blind. Unclear information on withdrawals. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 4%. Duration: unclear.
Participants	Adults with solid cancer - recurrent colorectal metastatic. Chemotherapy 5 FU.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment control versus folic acid 200 mg/m2/d 5 consecutive days before 5 FU. 206 eligible, 130 enrolled, 165 completed.
Outcomes	Mucositis (clinical 0-3 scale). Assessment used: day 28. Other reported outcomes: GI toxicity grades.
Notes	Funding source: pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	В
Study	Ferretti 1988
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patient, providers and assessors were blind. Unclear information on withdrawals: 1/28 control, 4/28 test. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 10%. Duration: up to 90 days.
Participants	Children and adults (1-51 years) with mixed blood haematological and solid cancers receiving BMT. 56 patients enrolled and 51 completed. Data used n=41.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus chlorhexidine gluconate mouthrinse (15 cc 0.12%, 3 times per day for 30s).
Outcomes	Mucositis (clinical scale 0-3, but then dichotomised and measured at 7, 14, 25, 33, 60 & 90 days). Assessment used: day 33. Other reported outcomes: gross candida (clinical appearance + swab culture or KOH preparation), oral streptococus, yeast, gram -ve bacilli, death, morphine use.
Notes	Candidemia (persistant candidiasis) also recorded, with 3 deaths due to candida in the control group. Mean mucositis scores given graphically with bars for SE. Given oral nystatin suspension 15 ml 4 times daily or clotrimazole troches. Supplemental nystatin soaks or popsicles were used liberally. Funding source: pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	A

Study	Ferretti 1990
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patient, providers and assessors were blind. Unclear information on withdrawals: 18/46 control, 15/46 test. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 36%. Duration: 28 days.
Participants	Children and adults (1-70 years) with mixed blood and solid cancer. High dose chemotherapy or head and neck radiation (data separate). 92 enrolled, 59 completed.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus chlorhexidine 0.12% ml 3 times/day.
Outcomes	Mucositis (scale where 0 = no ulceration) Assessment used: day 28+. Other reported outcomes: oral micr-strep, yeast, gram-ve bacilli. Systematic infection measured at day 7, 14, 21, 28.
Notes	Mucositis severity given with no s.d. Both groups had some mucositis at baseline. Funding source: pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	Α

Study	Fidler 1996
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patient, providers and assessors were blind. Unclear information on withdrawals: 1/165 total. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 1%. Duration: 14 days.
Participants	Adults, cancer type not given. Chemotherapy: first course 5-FU based. 165 enrolled, 164 clinical evaluation, 135 patient evaluation.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus camomile (30 drops in 100 ml water, 3 times per day).
Outcomes	Mucositis (physician and patient scales 0-4). Score judged historically 4-5 weeks after chemotherapy cycle initiation. Additionally patient form filled out on daily basis for first 3 weeks after first day of chemotherapy. Assessment used: day 21. Other reported outcomes: toxicity.
Notes	Mean daily mucositis scores shown graphically but no s.d. All patients used ice chips 5 mins before chemo- therapy and for 30 minutes in total. Patient's mucositis scores used. Funding source: government.
Allocation concealment	В
Study	Foote 1994

Study	Foote 1994
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA and Canada. Patient, providers and assessors were blind. Clear information on withdrawals: none. Unclear if dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 14 days.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 52 patients were eligible, enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus chlorhexidine (15 ml 4 times per day for 130s).
Outcomes	Mucositis scale 0-4 by patient and clinician at weekly intervals. Assessment used: day unclear.
Notes	Funding source: pharmaceutical and government.
Allocation concealment	A
C 1	Frances 1005

Study	Franzen 1995
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Sweden. Patient, providers and assessors were blind. Statis- tician blind. Unclear information on withdrawals: 2/50 total. Unclear if dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 10%. Duration: -2 to 14 weeks.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 50 patients were enrolled and 48 evaluated.

Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus sucralfate (granules of sucralfate an alkaline aluminimum hydroxide of suphated sucrose, swish with 1 dose package 1 g dissolved in water 6 times/day).
Outcomes	Patient based assessment of mucositis on 0-3 scale, number with grades 2 or 3 reported. Assessement used: day 28. Other reported outcomes: mucosal reaction, pain, functional impairment.
Notes	Funding source: charity.
Allocation concealment	А

Study	Gujral 2001
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in India. Patients, providers and assessors nor blind. Unclear information about withdrawals. Dentist no involved in study. Drop outs: 1%. Duration: 6 months.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. T3 and T4 squamous cell cancer, 100 enrolled, 99 evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment versus hydrolytic enzymes, papain 100 mg, trypsin 40 mg and chymotrypsin 40 mg. 3 tablets 3 times a day - 3 until + 5.
Outcomes	RTOG/EORTE scoring. Assessment used: day 54. Othe reported outcomes: dysphagia, dermatitis.
Notes	No oral care except toothbrushing. Funding source: pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	Α

Study	Huang 2000
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Taiwan. Unclear whether patient, providers and assessors were blind. Clear information about withdrawals (c): none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: beginning of radiation treatment until 25 factions (5 weeks).
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 17 patients were evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo (30 ml saline) versus glutamine (2 g in 30 ml saline, swish 30 ml 3 mins exporate).
Outcomes	Clinicians assessed subjective mucositis on 0-4 scale and objective RTOG/EORTC 0-4 scale. WHO step of analgesic drugs. Assessment used: day unclear.
Notes	Subjective mucositis scale used. Funding source: none.
Allocation concealment	В

study conducted in UK. Patient, providers and assessors were blind. Unclear infor- als: 11/28 in total. Dentist not involved in study. ion: (1st part) 8 days.
inal cancer undergoing 5 EU 87 falic acid daily for 5 days and repeated 4 weaks from
ed and 17 completed 2 cycles.
mer (Polycal) (described as placebo) versus glutamine (16 gm daily divided into 4 ed in 150 ml water before consumption).
mouth comfort, ease of eating. Assessment used: day 8.

Study	Katano 1995
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Japan. Patients, providers and assessors were not blind (c). Clear information about withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: administration ceased when leukocyte exceeded 8,000/mm ³ .

Participants	Adults with solid (breast cancer). 14 patients enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment versus G-CSF (granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, by injection 125 ug).
Outcomes	WHO mucositis score (0-4) by clinician. Other reported outcomes: alopecia, fever. Assessment used: day 8.
Notes	Funding source: pharmaceutical supply product.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Kaul 1999
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in India. Patient, provider and assessor not blind. Unclear information about withdrawals. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs unclear. Duration unclear.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer radiotherapy 50-60 Gy/5-6 weeks. 50 patients enrolled.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment control versus wobe-mugos enzyme preparation 3 tablets/day 3 days prior to RT until 1 week after.
Outcomes	Mucositis. Assessment used: day 28. Other reported outcomes: xerostomia, skin changes, dysphagia, hospi- talisation.
Notes	Funding source: none.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Koukourakis 2000
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Greece. Patient, provider and assessor not blind. Unclear information on withdrawals 0/20 control, 1/20 test. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 3%. Duration 6-7 weeks.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer RT postoperative or inperable dose 64-70 Gy. 40 patients enrolled, 39 completed.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment control versus amifostine 500 mg daily before RT.
Outcomes	Mucositis 0-4 scale combined categories. Assessment used: unclear. Other reported outcomes RT delay, side effects.
Notes	Patients selected from other types of cancer because mucositis data available. Funding source: government & pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Labar 1993
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Croatia. Patients and assessors blind but unclear if providers were. Clear information about withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: +7 to day +21.
Participants	Children and adults (5-43 years) with blood and solid cancers, undergoing BMT. 60 patients eligible, enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus prostaglandin E2 (0.5 mg 3 times per day)
Outcomes	Clinical and culture fungal measurement. Mucositis (WHO scale for 0-II vs III+, and 0 vs 1+). Severity over -7 to +35 days. Severity of mucositis also measured but no s.d. given. Assessment used: day 35. Other reported outcomes: HSV infection, microbiology, vomiting, diarrhoea, fever, death, GVHD (c).
Notes	Funding source: none.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Leborgne 1997
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Uruguay (c). Patient, provider and assessor blind. Unclear information about withdrawals. Dentist not involved in study. Drop out: 4%. Duration 90 days
	mormation about withdrawas. Denist not involved in study. Drop out. 176. Datation 76 adjs.

Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer radical RT. 69 enrolled, 66 completed.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus prednisone 40 mg once daily through day 28 reduced dose to day 43.
Outcomes	Mucosistis WHO. Assessment used: unclear. Other reported outcomes: treatment interruptions.
Notes	Funding source: none.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Loprinzi 1990
Methods	Randomised cross-over trial conducted in USA. Patients, providers and assessors were blind. Clear informa- tion on withdrawals: none. Dentist was not involved. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 5 days.
Participants	Adults with colorectal cancer receiving first 5 day course of 5-FU. 77 patients enrolled, and completed 1st period, only 20 completed 2nd period.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus allupurinol mouthrinse 1 mg/ml made from 450 mg + 150 ml cologel (450 mg/5 mg methylcellulose with 5% alcohol) +450 ml flavouring agent. 20 ml used for 30s immediately after treatment then at 1, 2, 3 hours).
Outcomes	Mucositis (physician and patient scales 0-4). Assessed used: day 30.
Notes	Data cross-tabulated in a form suitable for meta-analysis provided by authors. Funding source: none.
Allocation concealment	A

Study	Mahood 1991
Methods	Randomised, cross-over study conducted in USA. Patients, providers and assessors not blind. Unclear information on withdrawals: 2/45 control, 0/50 treatment in first cycle. Dentists not involved in study. Drop outs 2%. Duration from 5 mins before 5-FU and for 30 mins after.
Participants	Unclear age group and cancer type. Chemotherapy first 5 day course of 5-FU. 95 patients eligible and enrolled and 93 completed first cycle, however, only 82 patients assessed mucositis.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment control versus ice chips (cryotherapy) placed in the mouth 5 mins before each dose of 5 FU and replenished over 30 mins.
Outcomes	Mucositis (physician & patients scales 0-4) and historical 1 month after treatment. Assessment used: day 28.
Notes	Data cross-tabulated in a form suitable for meta-analysis provided by authors. Funding source: government.
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Makkonen 1994
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Finland. Patients blind but unclear if providers and assessors were. Clear information about withdrawals: none mentioned. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: during therapy (9 wks).
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 40 patients eligible, enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus sucralfate (suspension 1 g 6 times per day orally, patients mix granules with 100 ml water rinse for 1 min then swallow). Rinsed throughout radiotherapy, dose 45-73 Gy.
Outcomes	Mucositis on scale 0-2 (0 = no mucositis, 1 = moderate, 2 = severe), at 9 weekly evaluation visits. Assessment used: day 28. Other reported outcomes: salivary lactoferrin, salivary albumin, amount of anesthetic mouthwash, radiotherapy interrupted, toxicity.
Notes	Visit at week 4 taken. Antifungal agents given to 29 patients during study. Funding source: government.
Allocation concealment	A

Study	Makkonen 2000
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Finland. Patients, providers and assessors not blind. Clear information about withdrawals: none. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs:0%. Duration: during therapy (9 wks).
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 40 patients eligible, enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, no treatment control versus GM-CSF (150 to 300 ug given subcutaneously daily until last day of irradiation. Dose depends on body weight).
Outcomes	Mucositis on scale 0-2 (0 = no mucositis, 1 = moderate, 2 = severe). Assessment used: day 28. Other reported outcomes: oral pain on scale 1-4, and patient VAS scale for pain. Evaluated weekly during treatment then 1 and 6 months after therapy, use of analgesic, weight loss, toxicity, survival.
Notes	All patients used sucralfate supsension 1 g 6 times daily. Funding source: pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	A
Study	Nemunaitis 1995
Methods	Randomised, parallel group, multicentre study conducted as a USA and Canada. Patient, provider and assessor blind. Clear information about withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 1 year.
Participants	Adults with mixed cancer receiving BMT, chemotherapy cyclosporine & prednisolone. 109 patients enrolled, 109 completed.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus RhGM-CSF (human granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor) 250 ug/m2/day IV day 0-20.
Outcomes	Mucosistis scored by nurse 3 grades. (Categorised according to WHO criteria for analysis). Assessment used:

 Notes
 Funding source: pharmaceutical.

 Allocation concealment
 A

Study	Niibe 1985
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Japan. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear infor- mation about withdrawals: 4/24 control, 6/23 treatment. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 21%. Duration: day 1 to end of radiation.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 47 patients enrolled and 37 completed.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus amifostine (200 mg per day).
Outcomes	Mucositis measured at >= 2 on scale similar to WHO scale. Assessment used: day unclear.
Notes	Funding source: unclear.
Allocation concealment	Α

day 28. Other reported outcomes: infection, anorexia, diarrohea, hypertension, stomatitis.

Study	Oberbaum 2001
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Israel. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear infor- mation about withdrawals: 1/16 control, 1/16 test. Drop outs: 6%. Duration: unclear.
Participants	Children and adults with mixed cancer receiving a BMT. 32 consecutive patients enrolled, 30 completed.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus traumeel (homeopathic) rinse vigorously 30 sec before swallowing 5/day for a minimum 14 days.
Outcomes	Mucositis WHO scale evaluated every 2 days. Assessment used: day 7.
Notes	All patients 2 daily chlorhexidine oral amphotericin B.

	Funding source: pharmaceutical and possibly charity.
Allocation concealment	Α
Study	Okuno 1999
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear informa- tion about withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: up to 5 weeks after intral chemotherapy.
Participants	Adults with cancer (type unclear). 134 eligible, enrolled and evaluated, but patient assessment only completed by 124 patients.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus glutamine (4 g twice a day, swish for 10 s then swallow).
Outcomes	Maximum severity of mucositis over 14 days using 0-4 scale, both physician and patient assessment. Other reported outcomes: toxicity (no detail). Assessment used: day 14.
Notes	All patients used ice chips 5 minutes before 5 FU for 30 minutes. Funding source: government.
Allocation concealment	В
Study	Pfeiffer 1990
Methods	Randomised, cross-over study conducted in Denmark. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Unclear in- formation about withdrawals. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 43%. Duration: 14 days.
Participants	Adults with mixed cancer (including head and neck). 40 patients enrolled, 23 evaluable.

-	· ·
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus sulcralfate (1 g 15 ml suspension, swish for 2 min then spit out or swallow).
Outcomes	Ulceration or not. Assessment used: day 14. Other reported outcomes: pain, problems eating.
Notes	Funding source: pharmaceutical support for product.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Prada 1987
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Italy. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Unclear infor- mation about withdrawals. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs 10%. Duration: 10 days.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 40 patients eligible and enrolled, 36 evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus benzydamine (120 ml solution of 0.15% benzydamine, 15 ml mouthwash for 5 mins every 3 hours up to max of 6 times daily.
Outcomes	Physician evaluation of mucositis on 0 (absent) to 3 (intense or remarkable) scale every day for 10 days. Assessment used: day 10. Other reported outcomes: global clinical symptomatology, burning, chewing pain, dysphasia and odynophasia assessed.
Notes	Funding source: none.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Rahn 1997
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Germany. Patients and providers not blind, assessors were blind (c). Clear information about withdrawals: none. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: until one week after end of radiotherapy.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 40 patients eligible, enrolled. 2 died but all 40 were evaluated.

Interventions	2 groups, control (sterile water) versus providone iodine rinse (rinsing for 3 mins with 100 ml solution 4 times daily).
Outcomes	WHO assessment of mucositis on 0-4 scale. During therapy and at 2, 6 weeks after therapy. Assessment used: day 28.
Notes	All patients received nystatin, dexpanthenol, ratoside and immunoglobin. Funding source: unclear.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Schneider 1999
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear informa- tion about withdrawals: none. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration:
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 14 patients enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus filgrastim (subcutaneous injections daily throughout treatment titrated to keep neutrophil count between 10x 10 ² and 30X 10 ³ /l).
Outcomes	WHO mucositis 0-4 scale, and Hickey mucositis scores. Proportion of patients greater than WHO mucositis grade 3 presented. Assessment used: week 10.
Notes	All patients had oral hygiene instruction. Funding source: pharmaceutical.
Allocation concealment	Α

Study	Shenep 1988
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in USA. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear informa- tion about withdrawals: none. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 50 days.
Participants	Children with leukaemia. Chemotherapy- remission induction multiagent ANLL-83. 48 patients enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus sucralfate (0.75 mg/kg daily, suspension swished every 6 hours).
Outcomes	Mucositis (clinical and patients scales given, 0-4), gram-ve, gram+ve, fungal, all organisms. Assessment used: day 50. Other reported outcomes: gastroenteritis, gingival bleeding, nutrition, fever, infection, rash.
Notes	Clinician's mucositis score used. Funding source: government.

Allocation concealment A

Study	Shieh 1997
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in China. Patients not blind, unclear whether providers and assessors blind (c). Clear information about withdrawals: none. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 5 weeks.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 30 patients enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	3 groups (oral care protocols), control given no instructions, E1 given protocol to follow 1 day before radiotherapy, E2 given protocol to follow 1 week before radiotherapy. Oral care protocol included instructions on how to brush teeth.
Outcomes	Stomatitis free survival (graph). Also means and standard deviations of oral assessment guide (OAG) index, which includes multiple factors including voice and teeth. Assessment used: day 28.
Notes	Funding source: government.
Allocation concealment	A

Study	Spijkervet 1989
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in the Netherlands. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear information about withdrawals: none. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 5 weeks.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 30 patients eligible, enrolled and evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus chlorhexidine spray/rinse (0.1% chlorhexidine 100 ml per day (spray 50 ml) rinsing 3 times with 15 ml).
Outcomes	Semiquantitative scoring of mucositis in 'described elsewhere'. Assessed thrice weekly until end of treatment (at least 50 Gy). Assessment used: day 35. Other reported outcomes: microflora.
Notes	Used data from text: 24 patients showed the most severe stage of pseudomembrane formation (12 in placebo and 12 in test). During radiotherapy daily cleaning of teeth by hygienist. Funding source: government.
Allocation concealment	В
Study	Symonds 1996
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Scotland. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear information about withdrawals: 30/139 control, 24/136 test. Dentist not involved in study. Drop outs: 20%. Duration: until radiation reaction settled, 8 weeks.
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 275 patients enrolled and 221 evaluated.
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus antibiotic pastille (polymyxin E 2 mg, tobramycin 1.8 mg and amphotericin B 10 mg, 4 times daily from start of radiotherapy).
Outcomes	Physician assessment of mucositis (none, patchy confluent). Assessment used: day 56. Other reported out- comes: patients asked about pain on swallowing and dysphagia, weight loss and compliance.
Notes	Funding source: none.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Van der Leslie 2001 Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Holland. Patients, providers and assessors blind. Clear information about withdrawals: none. Dentist involved in study. Drop out: 0%. Duration: until neutrophil recovery.			
Methods				
Participants	Adults with mixed cancer receving BMT or cell stem. 39 patients eligible, 36 enrolled and evaluated.			
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus GM-CSF (300 ug of GM-CSF daily dose in 2% methylocellulose gel, 5 ml gel twice daily, keep in oral cavity as long as possible then swallow).			
Outcomes	WHO mucositis scale 0-4. Assessment used: day 14. Other reported outcomes: VAS mucositis pain, OAS mucositis, required morphine or not, fever, infection treated with antibiotics, duration of netropenia, days in hospital.			
Notes	All rinsed with 0.9% saline and in case of inflamation 0.12% chlorhexidine 6 times daily. Funding source: university, pharmaceutical for intervention.			
Allocation concealment	A			
Study	Wahlin 1989			
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Sweden. Patients and providers not blind, assessors blind. Clear information about withdrawals: 4/14 control, 3/14 test. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 21 days.			
Participants	Children and adults with acute leukaemia at start of chemotherapy. 28 patients enrolled, 14 patients com-			

Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment (Review) Copyright © 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

pleted (although mucositis data presented on 28).

Interventions	Control: no treatment versus chlorhexidine (0.2% 10 ml twice daily).				
Outcomes	Mucositis scored at the level of ulceration. Assessment used: day 28. Other reported outcomes: candidiasis verified by detecting pseudohypae in smears, days fever, plaque, gingival bleeding, burning sensation.				
Notes	Data from the first course of chemotherapy used as unable to extract data for second course due to lack of information about drop outs.				
Allocation concealment	Α				
Study	Wijers 2001				
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in the Netherlands. Patients were not blind, unclear if providers and assessors were. Unclear information about withdrawals. Dentist involved in study. Drop outs: 32%. Duration: 3 weeks after radiation.				
Participants	Adults with head and neck cancer. 114 patients enrolled, 37 refused to continue, 77 completed.				
Interventions	2 groups, placebo versus PTA paste containing antibiotics, polymyxin E, tobramycin, amphotericin.				
Outcomes	Mucositis scored weekly, 5 point scale, Van der Schneren system. Assessment used: day 28 min. Other reported outcomes: pain, microflora.				
Notes	Funding source: unclear.				
Allocation concealment	В				
Study	Yuen 2001				
Methods	Randomised, parallel group study conducted in Hong Kong. Patients, providers and assessors not blind. Clear information on withdrawals: none. Dentist no involved in study. Drop outs: 0%. Duration: 60 days after BMT.				
Participants	Adults with mixed cancer receiving BMT, 70 enrolled, 70 evaluated.				
Interventions	2 groups no treatment versus Clarithromycin oral 500 mg twice daily or IV 500 mg 12 hourly. Start day -7.				
Outcomes	Mucositis scoring system not clear. Grade 2 data used. Assessment used: unclear. Other reported outcomes: toxicity (rash, diarrhoea, liver function), infection, duration of fever, neutropenic fever, use of antibiotics, parenteral nutrition, growth factors.				
Notes	Funding Source: none.				
Allocation concealment	В				
(c) indicates from correspon	dence with authors				

Characteristics of excluded studies

Anderson 1998b	Data not in suitable form, need number per group for self reported mouth sores for Fig 3 otherwise cannot use data. (Glutamine versus placebo).			
Antonadou 1998	Abstract, insufficient information. (Radiotherapy with or without GM-CSF).			
paydin 1996 Data not in suitable form. Unclear how mucositis assessed and means (SD) given. (Benzydamine v no treatment).				
Barasch 1995	Data not in suitable form. Mucositis presented as mean area (SD). (He-Ne Laser versus no treatment).			
Bensadoun 1999	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) of mucositis grade intensity per week. (He-Ne Laser versus no treatment).			
Chi 1995	Data not in suitable form. Written to authors requesting cross-tabulated data. (GM-CSF versus no treat- ment).			
Costa 1999	Abstract, insufficient information. (Chlorhexidine versus no treatment).			

Cowen 1997	Data in inappropriate form. Daily mucositis index ranging from 0-48 used, with means (SD) presented. (He-Ne Laser versus no treatment).			
Cunningham 1995	Investigating new cancer treatment, Tomudex, with oral mucositis as one of the minor side effects.			
Decker-Baummann 1999	Unsuitable treatment outcome for review. (Parental glutamine versus no treatment).			
Dudjak 1987	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) of mouth and comfort scores. (Two oral care protocols).			
Edelman 1998	Not RCT. (Cryotherapy).			
Epstein 1986	Mucositis not presented in a useable form, however VAS pain scores presented. (Benzydamine versus placebo).			
Epstein 1989	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) for size and area of ulceration presented. (Benzydamine versus placebo).			
Epstein 1992	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) for size and area of ulceration presented. (Three groups: chlorhexidine rinse, nystatin suspension and saline solution).			
Epstein 1994	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) mucositis scores presented. (Sucralfate versus placebo).			
Epstein 1999	Abstract, insufficient information. (Benzydamine versus placebo).			
Epstein 2001	Excluded due to mucositis data presented as area under the curve. (Benzydamine versus placebo).			
Erkisi 1996	Design fault-intervention confounded by radiotherapy. (G-CSF versus no treatment).			
Etiz 1998	Abstract, insufficient information. (Sucralfate versus placebo).			
Etiz 2000	Data not in suitable form. Median oral mucositis scores and pain scores presented. (Sucralfate versus placebo).			
Evans 1990	Abstract, insufficient information. (GM-CFS versus placebo).			
Fahlke 1999	Not RCT. (Amifostine).			
Falcone 2001	Comparing different radiotherapy regimens.			
Feber 1996	Data not in suitable form. Oral assessment guide means presented. (Two oral care protocols).			
Grotz 2001	Data not in suitable form. Total RTOG scores mean (SD) presented. (Comarin/troxerutine versus placebo).			
Hanson 1997	Data not in suitable form. Mucositis mean (SD) graphically presented. (Prostaglandin versus placebo).			
Harris 1995	Abstract, insufficient information. (Folinic acid mouthwash versus placebo).			
Hickey 1982	Problems with data. 21 patients in total, unclear how many patients per group, but data presented as 67 courses of chemotherapy. (Oral hygiene protocols).			
Jebb 1995	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) mucositis scores presented. (Glutamine versus placebo).			
Karthaus 1998	Problems with the data. 8 patients, 32 chemo cycles and results presented assuming independent. (G-CSF versus placebo).			
Kenny 1990	Data not in suitable form. Oral assessment guide mean (SD) presented. (Two oral care protocols).			
Leong 1995	Abstract, insufficient information. (Thymidine versus no treatment).			
Levendag 1998	Abstract, insufficient information. (Polyenes versus placebo).			
Lievens 1998	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) mucositis scores presented graphically. (Sucralfate versus placebo).			
Lopez 1994	Data not in suitable form. Number of days with mucositis presented. (Vitamin E versus placebo).			
Marcial 1994	Abstract, insufficient information. It states it is an RCT but mentions historical control group. (Low energy laser versus no treatment).			
McGaw 1985	Data not in suitable form. Did not give the numbers in the 2 study groups and data presented as mean (SD) mucositis index. (Chlorhexidine versus placebo).			
McIlroy 1996	Data not in suitable form. Qualitative assessment with no data given. (Polyenes versus placebo).			
Nicholl 1995	No suitable outcomes for review. (Amphotericin B - two doses).			
Niibe 1985b	No clear mucositis index presented. (Amifostine versus placebo).			

Characteristics of excluded	studies (Continued))
-----------------------------	---------------------	---

Okuno 1997	Major change to protocol half way through study. (Antibiotic lozenge versus placebo).				
Okuno 1998	Abstract, insufficient information. (Glutamine versus placebo).				
Pfeiffer 1989	Abstract, insufficient information. (Sucralfate versus placebo).				
Pouli 1999	Abstract, insufficient information. (GM-CSF versus sodium bicarbonate mouthwash).				
Prada 1985	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) mucositis scores presented (unsure if RCT). (Benzydamine versus placebo mouthwash).				
Raether 1989	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) of ulceration over 7 sites per patient presented. (Chlorhexidine versus placebo).				
Rocke 1993	Patients returning for a second course of chemo were crossed over to alternate group. This only happ if they experienced no worse than mild mucositis from first course of chemo. Therefore both parallel g and cross-over trial, also biased as only selected patients crossed over. (Ice chips (30 mins) versus Ice (60 mins)).				
Rutkauskas 1993	Data not in suitable form. Mucositis mean (not SD) presented. (Chlorhexidine versus placebo).				
Samaranayake 1988	Data not in suitable form. Mean (not SD) presented. (Benzydamine versus chlorhexidine).				
Sato 1997	Unsure if RCT and author has not responded to letter requesting further information.				
Suc 1999	Abstract, insufficient information. (Chewing gum versus no treatment).				
Vacha 1999	Mucositis scores presented, data not in suitable form for the review. (Amifostine versus no treatment).				
Verdi 1995	Data not in suitable form. Oral assessment scores (0-24 scale) presented for each patient. (Pentoxifylline versus placebo).				
Vitello 2000	Abstract, insufficient information. (Lidocaine versus dyclone mouthrinses).				
Weisdorf 1989	Data not in suitable form. Mean (SD) maximal area of ulceration presented. (Chlorhexidine versus placebo).				
Wymenga 1999	Abstract, insufficient information. (TGF-B3 mouthrinse versus no treatment).				

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 01. Quality assessment of trials

study	concealed allocation	outcome blinded	explanation drop out
Ahmed 1993	В	1	1
Anderson 1998	В	1	1
Antonado 2002	В	0	1
Attal 1993	А	2	1
Borowski 1994	А	0	1
Bourhis 2000	А	2	0
Brizel 2000	А	0	1 (0)
Bubley 1989	А	1	0
Buntzel 1998a	В	2	0
Cartee 1995	А	1	0
Carter 1999	В	1	1

study	concealed allocation	outcome blinded	explanation drop out
Cascinu 1994	A (B)	0	1
Cengiz 1999	В	2	1
Crawford 1999	В	2	0
Dickson 2000	A (B)	1	1
Dodd 1996	А	1	1
Dozono 1989	А	2	1
Duenas 1996	A (B)	1	1
Erlichman 1988	В	2	0
Ferretti 1988	A (B)	1	0
Ferretti 1990	А	1	0
Fidler 1996	В	1	0
Foote 1994	А	1	1
Frazen 1995	А	1	0
Gurjral 2001	А	0	2
Huang 2000	В	2	1 (0)
Jebb 1994	A (B)	1	0
Katano 1995	В	0 (2)	1
Kaul 1999	В	0	0
Koukourakis 2000	В	0	0
Labar 1993	В	1	1
Leborgne 1997	В	1	0
Loprinzi 1990	A (B)	1	1
Mahood 1991	В	0	0
Makkonen 1994	А	2	1
Makkonen 2000	А	0	1
Nemunaitis 1995	А	1	1
Niibe 1985	А	1	1
Oberbaum 2001	А	1	1
Okuno 1999	В	1	1
Pfeiffer 1990	В	1	0
Prada 1987	В	1	0

Table 01. Quality assessment of trials (Continued)

study	concealed allocation	outcome blinded	explanation drop out
Rahn 1997	В	1 (2)	1
Schneider 1999	А	1	1
Sheih 1997	A (B)	1 (2)	1
Shenep 1988	А	1	1
Spijkervet 1989	В	1	1
Symonds 1996	В	1	1
Van der Lelie 2001	A (B)	1	1
Wahlin 1989	A (B)	1	1
Wijers 2001	В	2	0
Yuen 2001	В	0	1

Table 01. Quality assessment of trials (Continued)

Table 02. Data from parallel group studies for comparisons involving cross-over studies

Comparison	Treatment n	Treatment N	Control n	Control N	OR (95% CI)
glutamine 0 vs 1+					
Huang 2000	8	8	9	9	Not estimable
Okuno 1999	46	66	44	68	1.25 (0.61, 2.59)
glutamine 0-1 vs 2+					
Dickson 2000	19	29	18	29	1.16 (0.40, 3.39)
Huang 2000	7	8	8	9	0.88 (0.05, 16.75)
Okuno 1999	19	66	20	68	0.97 (0.46, 2.05)
glutamine 0-2 vs 3+					
Huang 2000	0	8	4	9	0.07 (0.00, 1.62)
Okuno 1999	4	66	5	68	0.81 (0.21, 3.17)
Ice chips 0 vs 1+					
Cascinu 1994	14	44	20	40	0.47 (0.19, 1.13)
Ice chips 0-1 vs 2+					
Cascinu 1994	8	44	14	40	0.41 (0.15, 1.13)
Ice chips 0-2 vs 3+					
Cascinu 1994	4	44	10	40	0.30 (0.09, 1.05)
sucralfate 0 vs 1+					
Cengiz 1999	18	18	10	10	Not estimable
Shenep 1988	24	24	24	24	Not estimable
sucralfate 0-1 vs 2+					
Cengiz 1999	9	10	9	18	0.11 (0.01, 1.07)

Frazen 1995	7	24	15	24	0.25 (0.07, 0.83)
Makkonen 1994	12	20	11	20	1.23 (0.35, 4.31)
Shenep 1988	24	24	24	24	Not estimable
sucralfate 0-2 vs 3+					
Carter 1999	22	52	25	50	0.73 (0.34, 1.60)
Cengiz 1999	0	18	2	10	0.09 (0.00, 2.13)
Shenep 1988	17	24	18	24	0.81 (0.23, 2.90)

Table 03. Data from cross-over studies

Comparison	test-/control-	test-/control+	test+/control-	test+/control+	OR (95% CI)			
allupurinol mouthrinse 0 v	allupurinol mouthrinse 0 vs 1+							
Dozono 1989 (low)	1	10	0	4	0.00 (0.00, 0.45)			
Dozono 1989 (high)	0	11	1	3	0.09 (0.002, 0.63)			
Loprinzi 1990	4	4	2	9	0.50 (0.05, 3.49)			
allupurinol mouthrinse 0-1	allupurinol mouthrinse 0-1 vs 2+							
Dozono 1989	4	11	0	0	0.00 (0.00, 0.40)			
Loprinzi 1990	8	4	5	2	1.25 (0.27, 6.30)			
allupurinol mouthrinse 0-2	2 vs 3+							
Dozono 1989	8	7	0	0	0.00 (0.00, 0.69)			
Loprinzi 1990	15	3	0	1	0.00 (0.00, 2.42)			
glutamine 0 vs 1+								
Anderson 1998	0	5	0	8	0.00 (0.00, 1.09)			
Jebb 1994 (low)	6	2	0	9	0.00 (0.02, 5.33)			
Jebb 1994 (high)	0	8	6	3	0.75 (0.21, 2.47)			
glutamine 0-1 vs 2+								
Jebb 1994 (low)	7	3	0	7	0.00 (0.00, 2.42)			
Jebb 1994 (high)	0	10	7	0	0.70 (0.23, 2.04)			
glutamine 0-2 vs 3+								
Anderson 1998	4	6	0	3	0.00 (0.00, 0.85)			
Jebb 1994 (low)	12	0	1	4	Not estimable			
Jebb 1994 (high)	8	4	5	0	1.25 (0.27, 6.30)			
Ice chips 0 vs 1+								
Mahood 1991	9	8	2	8	0.25 (0.03, 1.25)			
Ice chips 0-1 vs 2+								
Mahood 1991	15	9	2	1	0.22 (0.02, 1.07)			

Table 03. Data from cross-over studies (C	Continued)
---	------------

Comparison	test-/control-	test-/control+	test+/control-	test+/control+	OR (95% CI)
Ice chips 0-2 vs 3+					
Mahood 1991	19	7	0	1	0.00 (0.00, 0.69)
sucralfate 0-2 vs 3+					
Pfeiffer 1990 (low)	4	3	0	16	0.00 (0.00, 2.42)
Pfeiffer 1990 (high)	0	7	4	12	0.57 (0.12, 2.25)

Table 04. Results from parallel group and cross-over studies

Comparison	OR (95% CI)	Heterogeneity Q
allopurinal mouthrinse 0 vs 1+		
Dozono 1989 (low)	0.00 (0.00, 0.45)	
Dozono 1989 (high)	0.09 (0.002, 0.63)	
Loprinzi 1990	0.50 (0.05, 3.49)	
Pooled results (Dozono low)	0.03 (0.00, 12.7) p=0.26	Q=6.68, 1df, p=0.01
(Dozono high)	0.271 (0.05, 1.51) p=0.14	Q=0.88, 1df, p=0.34
allopurinol mouthrinse 0-1 vs 2+		
Dozono 1989	0.00 (0.00, 0.40)	
Loprinzi 1990	1.25 (0.27, 6.30)	
Pooled results	0.05 (0, 49.1) p=0.39	Q=9.93, 1df, p=0.002
allupurinol mouthrinse 0-2 vs 3+		
Dozono 1989	0.00 (0.00, 0.69)	
Loprinzi 1990	0.00 (0.00, 2.42)	
Pooled results	0.00 (0, 0.03) p<0.001	Q=0, 1df, p=1
glutamine 0 vs 1+		
Anderson 1998	0.00 (0.00, 1.09)	
Huang 2000	Not estimable	
Jebb 1994 (low)	0.00 (0.02, 5.33)	
Jebb 1994 (high)	0.75 (0.21, 2.47)	
Okuno 1999	1.25 (0.61, 2.59)	
Pooled results (Jebb low)	0.01 (0.00, 4.24) p=0.14	Q=31.24, 2df, p<0.001
(Jebb high)	0.43 (0.07, 2.72) p=0.37	Q=9.05, 2df, p=0.01
glutamine 0-1 vs 2+		
Dickson 2000	1.05 (0.46, 2.41)	
Huang 2000	0.98 (0.25, 3.96)	
Jebb 1994 (low)	0.00 (0.00, 2.42)	

Jebb 1994 (high)	0.70 (0.23, 2.04)	
Okuno 1999	0.98 (0.48, 2.00)	
Pooled results(Jebb low)	0.70 (0.20, 2.44) p=0.58	Q=7.22, 3df, p=0.07
(Jebb high)	0.94 (0.55, 1.58) p=0.81	Q=0.44, 3df, p=0.93
glutamine 0-2 vs 3+		
Anderson 1998	0.00 (0.00, 0.85)	
Huang 2000	0.07 (0.00, 1.62)	
Jebb 1994 (high)	1.25 (0.27, 6.307)	
Okuno 1999	0.81 (0.21, 3.17)	
Pooled results	0.25 (0.03, 2.16) p=0.21	Q=9.45, 3df, p=0.02
Ice chips 0 vs 1+		
Cascinu 1994	0.47 (0.19, 1.13)	
Mahood 1991	0.25 (0.03, 1.25)	
Pooled results	0.42 (0.19, 0.93) p=0.03	Q=0.36, 1df, p=0.55
Ice chips 0-1 vs 2+		
Cascinu 1994	0.41 (0.15, 1.13)	
Mahood 1991	0.22 (0.02, 1.07)	
Pooled results	0.36 (0.15, 0.89) p=0.03	Q=0.30, 1df, p=0.59
Ice chips 0-2 vs 3		
Cascinu 1994	0.30 (0.09, 1.05)	
Mahood 1991	0.00 (0.00, 0.69)	
Pooled results	0.03 (0.00, 6.60) p=0.20	Q=5.94, 1df, p=0.015
sucralfate 0-1 vs 2+		
Cengiz 1999	0.73 (0.34, 1.60)	
Frazen 1995	0.09 (0.00, 2.13)	
Makkonen 1994	0.81 (0.23, 2.90)	
Pooled results	0.38 (0.10, 1.48) p=0.16	Q=4.9, 2df, p=0.09
sucralfate 0-2 vs 3+		
Carter 1999	0.73 (0.34, 1.60)	
Cengiz 1999	0.09 (0.00, 2.13)	
Pfeiffer 1990 (low)	0.00 (0.00, 2.42)	
Pfeiffer 1990 (high)	0.57 (0.12, 2.25)	
Shenep 1988	0.24 (0.06, 1.03)	
Pooled results (Pfeiffer low)	0.22 (0.04, 1.19) p=0.08	Q=8.22, 3df, p=0.04
(Pfeiffer high)	0.55 (0.30, 1.02) p=0.056	Q=2.33, 3df, p=0.51

ANALYSES

Comparison 01. Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment

Outcome title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
01 mucositis (absent versus present)			Relative Risk (Random) 95% CI	Subtotals only
02 mucositis (0-1 versus 2+)			Relative Risk (Random) 95% CI	Subtotals only
03 mucositis (0-2 versus 3+)			Relative Risk (Random) 95% CI	Subtotals only

Comparison 02. Side effects

Outcome title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
01 amifostine	14	1473	Relative Risk (Random) 95% CI	1.07 [0.75, 1.53]
02 GM-CSF	5	338	Relative Risk (Random) 95% CI	1.25 [0.63, 2.47]

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Administration, Oral; Administration, Topical; Antifungal Agents [*therapeutic use]; Antineoplastic Agents [*adverse effects]; Candidiasis, Oral [*chemically induced; etiology; *prevention & control]; Cryotherapy; Ice; Mouth Mucosa; Neoplasms [drug therapy; radiotherapy]; Randomized Controlled Trials; Stomatitis [*chemically induced; etiology; *prevention & control]

MeSH check words

Humans

COVER SHEET

Title	Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment
Authors	Clarkson JE, Worthington HV, Eden OB
Contribution of author(s)	Jan Clarkson (JC) and Helen Worthington (HW) wrote the protocol and review. HW co- ordinated the review and wrote the letters to authors. JC and HW independently and in duplicate assessed the eligibility of trials, extracted data and assessed the quality of the trials. Tim Eden (OE) provided advice on cancer, its treatment and the interventions included in the review and checked the data. HW conducted the statistical analysis.
Issue protocol first published	1998/1
Review first published	2000/1
Date of most recent amendment	21 May 2004
Date of most recent SUBSTANTIVE amendment	23 May 2003
What's New	This is an update of the Cochrane Review 'Prevention of oral mucositis or oral candidiasis for patients with cancer receiving chemotherapy'. This update concentrates on oral mucositis and the breadth of the review has been extended to include all types of cancer and its treatment, and any interventions and comparisons between them.
Date new studies sought but none found	Information not supplied by author

Date new studies found but not yet included/excluded	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found and included/excluded	Information not supplied by author
Date authors' conclusions section amended	Information not supplied by author
Contact address	Dr Jan Clarkson
	Senior Lecturer in Dental Primary Care
	Dental Health Services Research Unit
	The Mackenzie Building
	Kirsty Semple Way
	Dundee
	DD2 4BF
	UK
	E-mail: j.e.clarkson@dundee.ac.uk
	Tel: +44 1382 420059
	Fax: +44 1382 420051
DOI	10.1002/14651858.CD000978
Cochrane Library number	CD000978
Editorial group	Cochrane Oral Health Group
Editorial group code	HM-ORAL

GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES

Analysis 01.01. Comparison 01 Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment, Outcome 01 mucositis (absent versus present)

Review: Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment

Comparison: 01 Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment

Outcome: 01 mucositis (absent versus present)

Study	Treatment	Control	Relative Risk (Random)	Weight	Relative Risk (Random)
	n/IN	n/IN	95% CI	(%)	95% CI
01 aclycovir versus placeb	10/27	15/20		100.0	
Bubley 1989	18/2/	15/30		100.0	1.33 [0.85, 2.08]
Subtotal (95% CI)	27	30	•	100.0	1.33 [0.85, 2.08]
Total events: 18 (Treatment	nt), 15 (Control)				
Test for overall effect $z=1$.26 p=0.2				
02 amifactine versus no tr	'				
× Antonadou 2002	22/22	23/23		0.0	Not estimable
× Bourbis 2000	12/12	12/12		0.0	Not estimable
	12/12	12/12		0.0	
Brizel 2000	140/148	152/153		100.0	0.95 [0.91, 0.99]
Subtotal (95% CI)	182	188	•	100.0	0.95 [0.91, 0.99]
Total events: 174 (Treatme	ent), 187 (Control)				
Test for overall effect $z=2$	37 p=0.02				
Symonds 1996	aste) versus piacebo 85/112	97/109		687	0.85 [0.75 0.96]
2001	22/20	24/20	_	21.2	
VVijers 2001	32/39	34/38	Ţ	51.5	0.92 [0.76, 1.10]
Subtotal (95% CI)	151	147	•	100.0	0.87 [0.79, 0.97]
Test for betergeneity chi	ent), 131 (Control)	52 122 -0.0%			
Test for overall effect z=2	.61 p=0.009	32 1:: -0.078			
04 henzydamine versus pl	lacebo				
Prada 1987	12/19	16/17		100.0	0.67 [0.47, 0.97]
Subtotal (95% CI)	19	17	•	100.0	047[047.097]
Total events: 12 (Treatmen	nt), 16 (Control)	17		100.0	0.07 [0.47, 0.77]
Test for heterogeneity: no	ot applicable				
Test for overall effect z=2	.15 p=0.03				
05 camomile versus place	bo				
Fidler 1996	34/70	40/65		100.0	0.79 [0.58, 1.07]
Subtotal (95% CI)	70	65	•	100.0	0.79 [0.58, 1.07]
Total events: 34 (Treatmen	nt), 40 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity: no	t applicable				
			U.I. U.Z. U.S. I. Z. S. 10 Eavours Treatment Eavours Control		(Continued)
					(containaced)

Study	Treatment	Control	Relative Risk (Random)	Weight	Relative Risk (Random)
Test for overall effect z=1.5	n/IN	n/IN	95% CI	(%)	95% CI
04 shlash avidina varsua pla					
Dodd 1996	26/112	28/110	_ _	27.2	0.91 [0.57, 1.45]
Ferretti 1988	2/20	8/21	← ∎ ────	17.2	0.26 [0.06, 1.09]
Ferretti 1990	11/31	18/28		26.5	055[032]096]
Feate 1994	25/25	24/27	_	20.5	0.03 [0.02, 0.00]
FOOLE 1774	23/23	20/2/		27.1	1.04 [0.96, 1.12]
Subtotal (95% CI)	188 t) 80 (Control)	186		100.0	0.67 [0.27, 1.69]
Test for heterogeneity chi-s	guare=50.87 df=3 p=<	<pre><0 0001 1?? =94 1%</pre>			
Test for overall effect z=0.8	5 p=0.4				
07 folinic acid versus no tre	atment				
Erlichman 1988	44/46	6/6		100.0	3.65 [2.38, 5.58]
Subtotal (95% CI)	46	61	•	100.0	3.65 [2.38, 5.58]
Total events: 44 (Treatment	t), 16 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity: not	applicable				
lest for overall effect z=3.9	6 p<0.00001				
08 GM-CSF versus no trea Crawford 1999	26/93	48/102		79.7	0.59 [0.40, 0.87]
Katano 1995	2/7	7/7	← 	20.3	0.29 [0.09 0.92]
X Makkonen 2000	20/20	20/20		0.0	Not estimable
	120	120	-	100.0	
Total events: 48 (Treatment	t), 75 (Control)	127		100.0	0.51 [0.27, 0.71]
Test for heterogeneity chi-s	quare=1.35 df=1 p=0.2	24 ?? =26.1%			
Test for overall effect z=2.2	7 p=0.02				
09 hydrolytic enzymes vers	us no treatment				
Gujral 2001	51/53	46/46	•	50.8	0.96 [0.91, 1.01]
Kaul 1999	11/25	25/25		49.2	0.44 [0.28, 0.68]
Subtotal (95% CI)	78	71		100.0	0.65 [0.11, 3.76]
Total events: 62 (Treatment	t), 71 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity chi-s	quare=61.66 df=1 p=<	<0.0001 1?? =98.4%			
	γ μ=0.0				
Shieh 1997	12/20	10/10		100.0	0.60 [0.42, 0.86]
Subtotal (95% CI)	20	10	•	100.0	0.60 [0.42 0.86]
Total events: 12 (Treatment	t), 10 (Control)				0.00 [0.12, 0.00]
Test for heterogeneity: not	applicable				
Test for overall effect z=2.8	0 p=0.005				
povidone versus water					

Favours Treatment Favours Control (Continued \dots)

Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment (Review) Copyright © 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

(... Continued)

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl
Rahn 1997	14/20	20/20	-	100.0	0.70 [0.53, 0.93]
Subtotal (95% Cl) Total events: 14 (Treatmen Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=2.4	20 t), 20 (Control) applicable 14 p=0.01	20	•	100.0	0.70 [0.53, 0.93]
12 prednisone versus place	ebo				
Leborgne 1997	28/32	29/34	—	100.0	1.03 [0.85, 1.24]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 28 (Treatmen Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=02	32 t), 29 (Control) applicable 26 p=0.8	34	•	100.0	1.03 [0.85, 1.24]
Ahmed 1993	2/6	5/6	— — —	100.0	0.40 [0.12, 1.31]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 2 (Treatment) Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=1.5	6 applicable p=0.1	6		100.0	0.40 [0.12, 1.31]
14 prostaglandin versus pla	icebo				
Duenas 1996	8/9	2/7		46.2	3.11 [0.94, 10.27]
Labar 1993	29/31	29/29	•	53.8	0.94 [0.85, 1.03]
Subtotal (95% Cl) Total events: 37 (Treatmen Test for heterogeneity chi-s Test for overall effect z=0.4	40 t), 31 (Control) square=13.16 df=1 p=0 14 p=0.7	36 .0003 I?? =92.4%		100.0	1.63 [0.19, 14.22]
15 traumeel versus placebo	C				
Oberbaum 2001	10/15	14/15		100.0	0.71 [0.49, 1.05]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 10 (Treatmen Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=1.7	15 t), 14 (Control) applicable 72 p=0.08	15	-	100.0	0.71 [0.49, 1.05]
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Favours Treatment Favours Control		

Analysis 01.02. Comparison 01 Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment, Outcome 02 mucositis (0-1 versus 2+)

Review: Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment

Comparison: 01 Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment

Outcome: 02 mucositis (0-1 versus 2+)

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl
01 amifostine versus place	bo or no treatment				
Antonadou 2002	19/22	23/23	-	40.6	0.86 [0.73, 1.02]
× Bourhis 2000	12/12	12/12		0.0	Not estimable
Brizel 2000	108/148	130/153	-	54.4	0.86 [0.76, 0.97]
Koukourakis 2000	5/19	12/20		3.0	0.44 [0.19, 1.01]
Niibe 1985	4/20	7/17		1.9	0.49 [0.17, 1.38]
Subtotal (95% CI)	221	225	•	100.0	0.83 [0.72, 0.97]
Total events: 148 (Treatme Test for heterogeneity chi- Test for overall effect z=2.4	nt), 184 (Control) square=4.34 df=3 p=0.2 41 p=0.02	3 I?? =30.8%			
02 antibiotic paste versus p	placebo or no treatment				
Wijers 2001	26/39	28/38		100.0	0.90 [0.68, 1.21]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 26 (Treatmen Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=0.6	39 it), 28 (Control) applicable 57 p=0.5	38	•	100.0	0.90 [0.68, 1.21]
03 camomile versus placeb	00				
Fidler 1996	12/82	19/82		100.0	0.63 [0.33, 1.22]
Subtotal (95% Cl) Total events: 12 (Treatmen Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=1,3	82 at), 19 (Control) applicable 38 p=0.2	82		100.0	0.63 [0.33, 1.22]
04 chlorhexidine versus pla	acebo or no treatment				
Foote 1994	22/25	21/27	—	100.0	1.13 [0.88, 1.45]
Subtotal (95% Cl) Total events: 22 (Treatmen Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=0.9	25 at), 21 (Control) applicable 98 p=0.3	27	•	100.0	1.13 [0.88, 1.45]
05 folinic acid versus no tra	eatment				
Erlichman 1988	30/64	12/61		100.0	2.38 [1.35, 4.21]
Subtotal (95% CI)	64	61		100.0	2.38 [1.35, 4.21]
			0.1 0.2 0.5 2 5 10 Favours treatment Favours control		(Continued)

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl
Total events: 30 (Treatment Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=2.9	i), I 2 (Control) applicable 8 p=0.003				
06 GM-CSF versus no treat	tment				
× Makkonen 2000	20/20	20/20		0.0	Not estimable
Nemunaitis 1995	42/53	47/56	-	100.0	0.94 [0.79, 1.13]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 62 (Treatment Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=0.6	73 applicable p=0.5	76	•	100.0	0.94 [0.79, 1.13]
07 hydrolytic enzymes vers	us no treatment		_		
Gujral 2001	26/53	42/46		89.2	0.54 [0.40, 0.72]
Kaul 1999	2/25	8/25	• •	10.8	0.25 [0.06, 1.06]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 28 (Treatment Test for heterogeneity chi-s Test for overall effect z=2.7	78 :), 50 (Control) quare=1.18 df=1 p=0.2 8 p=0.006	71 8 I?? = I 5.1%	-	100.0	0.49 [0.30, 0.81]
08 oral care (intense oral h	ygiene versus limited or	al hygiene)			
Borowski 1994	64/75	70/75	-	100.0	0.91 [0.82, 1.02]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 64 (Treatment Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=1.5	75 :), 70 (Control) applicable 7 p=0.1	75	•	100.0	0.91 [0.82, 1.02]
09 pentoxifylline versus no	treatment				
Attal 1993	30/70	30/70	-	100.0	1.00 [0.68, 1.47]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 30 (Treatment Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=0.0	70 :), 30 (Control) applicable 0 p=I	70	+	100.0	1.00 [0.68, 1.47]
10 povidone versus water			_		
Rahn 1997	9/20	20/20		100.0	0.45 [0.28, 0.73]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 9 (Treatment) Test for heterogeneity: not Test for overall effect z=3.2	20 , 20 (Control) applicable 3 p=0.001	20	•	100.0	0.45 [0.28, 0.73]
II prednisone versus place	ьо				
Leborgne 1997	16/32	24/34		100.0	0.71 [0.47, 1.07]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 16 (Treatment	32 .), 24 (Control)	34		100.0	0.71 [0.47, 1.07]
			0.1 0.2 0.5 2 5 10		
			Favours treatment Favours control		(Continued)

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl	Weight	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl
Test for beterogeneity of		10/1 8	,5,6 Ci	(70)	7576 CI
lest for overall effect z= I	.65 p=0.1				
12 systemic antibiotic clar	rithromycin versus no trea	tment			
Yuen 2001	18/35	26/35		100.0	0.69 [0.48, 1.01]
Subtotal (95% CI)	35	35	•	100.0	0.69 [0.48, 1.01]
Total events: 18 (Treatme	ent), 26 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity: no	ot applicable				
Test for overall effect z= I	.91 p=0.06				
			0.1 0.2 0.5 2 5 10		
			Favours treatment Favours control		

Analysis 01.03. Comparison 01 Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment, Outcome 03 mucositis (0-2 versus 3+)

Review: Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment

Comparison: 01 Active treatment versus placebo/no treatment

Outcome: 03 mucositis (0-2 versus 3+)

Study	Treatment	Control	Relative Risk (Random)	Weight	Relative Risk (Random)
	n/N	n/N	95% CI	(%)	95% CI
01 amifostine versus no tre	atment				
Antonadou 2002	5/22	18/23		23.6	0.29 [0.13, 0.65]
Bourhis 2000	11/12	11/12	+	33.4	1.00 [0.79, 1.27]
Brizel 2000	52/148	60/153	-	32.7	0.90 [0.67, 1.20]
Buntzel 1998	0/14	12/14		5.3	0.04 [0.00, 0.62]
Koukourakis 2000	0/19	6/20	·	5.1	0.08 [0.00, 1.34]
Subtotal (95% CI)	215	222	-	100.0	0.54 [0.27, 1.06]
Total events: 68 (Treatment	t), 107 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity chi-s	quare=26.01 df=4 p=<0	.0001 1?? =84.6%			
Test for overall effect z=1.7	9 p=0.07				
02 antibiotic paste versus p	lacebo				
Wijers 2001	15/39	18/38		100.0	0.81 [0.48, 1.37]
Subtotal (95% CI)	39	38	-	100.0	0.81 [0.48, 1.37]
Total events: 15 (Treatment	t), 18 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity: not	applicable				
Test for overall effect z=0.7	9 p=0.4				
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10		
			Favours treatment Favours control		(Continued)

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl
03 camomile versus placebo					
Fidler 1996	8/82	7/82		100.0	1.14 [0.43, 3.01]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 8 (Treatment), 7 (Test for heterogeneity: not app Test for overall effect z=0.27	82 Control) licable p=0.8	82		100.0	1.14 [0.43, 3.01]
04 chlorhexidine versus placebo	o or no treatment				
Foote 1994	14/25	15/27	—	28.7	1.01 [0.62, 1.64]
Spijkervet 1989	12/15	12/15	-	52.5	1.00 [0.70, 1.43]
Wahlin 1989	8/14	9/14	_ _	18.8	0.89 [0.49, 1.62]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 34 (Treatment), 34 Test for heterogeneity chi-squar Test for overall effect z=0.15	54 6 (Control) re=0.13 df=2 p=0.94 p=0.9	56 I?? =0.0%	•	100.0	0.98 [0.76, 1.27]
05 folinic acid versus no treatm Erlichman 1988	ent 4/64	0/61		100.0	8.58 [0.47, 156.17]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 4 (Treatment), 0 (Test for heterogeneity: not app Test for overall effect z=1.45	64 Control) licable p=0.1	61		100.0	8.58 [0.47, 156.17]
06 GM-CSF versus placebo					
Cartee 1995	15/36	2/9		24.0	1.88 [0.52, 6.76]
Nemunaitis 1995	4/53	16/56	← ■ ──	27.4	0.26 [0.09, 0.74]
Schneider 1999	1/8	3/6	← ∎	16.0	0.25 [0.03, 1.85]
Van der Leslie 2001	/ 8	8/18		32.6	1.38 [0.73, 2.59]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 31 (Treatment), 29 Test for heterogeneity chi-squar Test for overall effect z=0.61	5 9 (Control) re=10.78 df=3 p=0.0 p=0.5	89 ?? =72.2%		100.0	0.72 [0.25, 2.08]
07 hydrolytic enzymes versus n	o treatment		_		
Gujral 2001	3/53	15/46	← <mark>→</mark>	86.6	0.17 [0.05, 0.56]
Kaul 1999	0/25	2/25	← ∎	13.4	0.20 [0.01, 3.97]
Subtotal (95% Cl) Total events: 3 (Treatment), 17 Test for heterogeneity chi-squar Test for overall effect z=3.10	78 (Control) re=0.01 df=1 p=0.93 p=0.002	7 I I?? =0.0%		100.0	0.18 [0.06, 0.53]
08 oral care (intense oral hygie Borowski 1994	ne versus limited oral 49/75	hygiene) 58/75		100.0	0.84 [0.69, 1.04]
			0.1 0.2 0.5 2 5 10 Favours treatment Favours control		(Continued)

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 49 (Treatment), Test for heterogeneity: not a Test for overall effect z=1.61	75 58 (Control) pplicable p=0.1	75	•	100.0	0.84 [0.69, 1.04]
09 povidone versus water Rahn 1997	4/20	13/20		100.0	0.31 [0.12, 0.78]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 4 (Treatment), Test for heterogeneity: not a Test for overall effect z=2.47	20 I 3 (Control) pplicable p=0.01	20		100.0	0.31 [0.12, 0.78]
10 prednisone versus placeb	0	5 (2.4		100.0	
Leborgne 1997 Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 3 (Treatment), 1 Test for heterogeneity: not a Test for overall effect z=0.65	3/32 32 5 (Control) pplicable p=0.5	5/34 34		100.0	0.64 [0.17, 2.45]
prostoglandin versus plac Labar 1993	ebo 17/31	15/29	-	100.0	1.06 [0.66, 1.70]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 17 (Treatment), Test for heterogeneity: not a Test for overall effect z=0.24	31 15 (Control) pplicable p=0.8	29	-	100.0	1.06 [0.66, 1.70]
			0.1 0.2 0.5 2 5 10 Favours treatment Favours control		

Analysis 02.01. Comparison 02 Side effects, Outcome 01 amifostine

Review: Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment

Comparison: 02 Side effects

Outcome: 01 amifostine

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl
01 survival at 24 months					
Brizel 2000	30/36	22/30	-	29.1	1.14 [0.88, 1.47]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 30 (Treatment Test for heterogeneity: not a Test for overall effect z=0.90	36), 22 (Control) applicable 6 p=0.3	30	•	29.1	1.14 [0.88, 1.47]
02 recurrence at 18 months	s after cancer treatment	1			
Antonadou 2002	4/22	6/23		7.9	0.70 [0.23, 2.14]
Brizel 2000	28/80	28/88		23.1	1.10 [0.72, 1.69]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 32 (Treatment Test for heterogeneity chi-so Test for overall effect z=0.13	102), 34 (Control) quare=0.56 df=1 p=0.4 3 p=0.9	 6 ?? =0.0%	-	30.9	1.04 [0.70, 1.55]
03 incomplete response to	radiotherapy				
Antonadou 2002	2/22	5/23		4.7	0.42 [0.09, 1.94]
Koukourakis 2000	5/12	6/12		11.2	0.83 [0.35, 2.00]
Subtotal (95% Cl) Total events: 7 (Treatment), Test for heterogeneity chi-sc Test for overall effect z=0.9	34 (Control) quare=0.63 df= p=0.4	35 3 I?? =0.0%		16.0	0.70 [0.33, 1.50]
	· p 0.1				
04 delay to radiotherapy Koukourakis 2000	5/19	12/20		12.0	0.44 [0.19, 1.01]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 5 (Treatment), Test for heterogeneity: not a Test for overall effect z=1.94	19 12 (Control) applicable 4 p=0.05	20		12.0	0.44 [0.19, 1.01]
05 hypotension					
Antonadou 2002	3/22	0/23		1.5	7.30 [0.40, 33.75]
Brizel 2000	4/148	0/153		1.4	9.30 [0.51, 171.28]
Subtotal (95% CI) Total events: 7 (Treatment), Test for heterogeneity chi-so Test for overall effect z=2.0	70 0 (Control) quare=0.0 df= p=0.9 p=0.04	76 1?? =0.0%		2.9	8.24 [1.05, 64.52]
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Favours treatment Favours control		(Continued)

					(Continued)
Study	Treatment	Control	Relative Risk (Random)	Weight	Relative Risk (Random)
	n/N	n/N	95% CI	(%)	95% CI
06 nausea					
Antonadou 2002	1/22	0/23		1.2	3.13 [0.13, 72.99]
Bourhis 2000	1/12	0/12		1.3	3.00 [0.13, 67.06]
Brizel 2000	4/148	1/153		2.5	4.14 [0.47, 36.57]
Subtotal (95% CI)	182	188		5.0	3.57 [0.76, 16.85]
Total events: 6 (Treatment)), I (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity chi-	square=0.04 df=2 p=0.9	8 ?? =0.0%			
Test for overall effect $z=1.6$	61 p=0.1				
07 vomiting					
Antonadou 2002	1/22	0/23		1.2	3.13 [0.13, 72.99]
Bourhis 2000	1/12	0/12		1.3	3.00 [0.13, 67.06]
Brizel 2000	8/148	0/153		1.5	17.57 [1.02, 301.71]
Subtotal (95% CI)	182	188		4.0	5.92 [1.03, 33.91]
Total events: 10 (Treatmen	nt), 0 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity chi-	square=1.01 df=2 p=0.6	0 ?? =0.0%			
Test for overall effect z=2.0	00 p=0.05				
Total (95% CI)	725	748	+	100.0	1.07 [0.75, 1.53]
Total events: 97 (Treatmen	nt), 80 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity chi-	square=18.65 df=13 p=0). 3 ??=30.3%			
Test for overall effect z=0.3	37 p=0.7				

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10

Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis 02.02. Comparison 02 Side effects, Outcome 02 GM-CSF

Review: Interventions for preventing oral mucositis for patients with cancer receiving treatment

Comparison: 02 Side effects

Outcome: 02 GM-CSF

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Relative Risk (Random) 95% Cl
01 survival 24 months					
Makkonen 2000	/20	15/20		31.4	0.73 [0.46, 1.17]
Subtotal (95% CI)	20	20	-	31.4	0.73 [0.46, 1.17]
Total events: (Treatmer	nt), 15 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity: not	t applicable				
Test for overall effect $z=1$.	29 p=0.2				
02 survival 12 months					
Nemunaitis 1995	28/53	35/56	-	34.0	0.85 [0.61, 1.17]
Subtotal (95% CI)	53	56	+	34.0	0.85 [0.61, 1.17]
Total events: 28 (Treatmer	nt), 35 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity: not	t applicable				
Test for overall effect $z=1$.	01 p=0.3				
03 relapse within I year					
Nemunaitis 1995	10/53	6/56	—	21.6	1.76 [0.69, 4.51]
Subtotal (95% CI)	53	56		21.6	1.76 [0.69, 4.51]
Total events: 10 (Treatmer	nt), 6 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity: not	t applicable				
Test for overall effect $z=1$.	18 p=0.2				
04 nausea					
Makkonen 2000	3/20	1/20		7.7	3.00 [0.34, 26.45]
Subtotal (95% CI)	20	20		7.7	3.00 [0.34, 26.45]
Total events: 3 (Treatment	:), I (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity: no	t applicable				
Test for overall effect z=0.	99 p=0.3				
05 local skin reaction					
Makkonen 2000	3/20	0/20		5.2	27.00 [1.71, 425.36]
Subtotal (95% CI)	20	20		5.2	27.00 [1.71, 425.36]
Total events: 13 (Treatmer	nt), 0 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity: not	t applicable				
Test for overall effect z=2.	34 p=0.02				
Total (95% Cl)	166	172	-	100.0	1.25 [0.63, 2.47]
Total events: 65 (Treatmer	nt), 57 (Control)				
Test for heterogeneity chi-	square=14.34 df=4 p=0	.006 ?? =72.1%			
Test for overall effect z=0.	65 p=0.5				
			0.1 0.2 0.5 2 5 0		